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RESULTS OF OPERATION 12/31/2017
EUR‘000

12/31/2017
adjusted*

EUR‘000
12/31/2016

EUR‘000

Total output 246,054 216,791 149,190

Sales revenues 174,557 174,557 118,690

   Milk production 119,181 119,181 73,225

   Milk processing 4,754 4,754 1,354

   Crop farming 33,420 33,420 29,137

   Other livestock products 14,544 14,544 13,636

   Miscellaneous 2,658 2,658 1,338

Earnings before interest taxes,  
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 98,803 69,540 49,981

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 73,803 44,540 31,904

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 41,047 11,784 4,428

Net income 36,804 7,541 3,962

*adjusted for other income from valuation gains („lucky buy“)  

GROUP FIGURES



ASSET POSITION 12/31/2017
EUR‘000

12/31/2016
EUR‘000

Equity 165,049 115,759

Liabilities 777,668 499,309

thereof financial liabilities 554,250 399,313

Non-current assets 724,025 468,336

Current assets 218,692 146,732

Total assets 942,717 615,068
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In the fiscal year 2017, we have made considerable progress 
in expanding our milk production activities. This is symbolic 
of the fact that the threshold of 1,000 tons of raw milk produ-
ced per day was exceeded in December 2017. As of the end of 
May, the daily output had increased to 1,370 tons, which is a 
level that not only strengthens our leading position in Russia 
but also places us among the leading milk producers in the 
world. We can also be very satisfied with our financial figures 
2017. Sales revenues increased by more than one third to EUR 
175 million in exchange rate adjusted terms. Earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) im-
proved to almost EUR 99 million. Adjusted for valuation gains 
from acquisitions in the amount of EUR 29 million, EBITDA 
amounted to roughly EUR 70 million, which was within the 
medium range of the projections (EUR 65 million to EUR 75 
million). Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came in at 
approx. EUR 74 million (adjusted: approx. EUR 45 million).

The market situation for the Russian agricultural sector was 
difficult in several respects in the past fiscal year: Milk produ-
cers had to cope with a volatile milk price, and the low wheat 
prices resulting from the record harvest reduced farmers’ 
income. But we remain convinced of the attractiveness of the 
Russian milk market. The latter is characterized by a structu-
ral undersupply of domestically produced milk and benefits 
from government subsidization in the form of low-interest 
loans and non-repayable subsidies for shed construction 
measures. Agricultural land is still available, although prices 
are no longer favorable in all regions. We therefore used this 
time to expand our dairy cow herd by 64% to over 45,100 
animals in the past fiscal year. The milk output was increased
from 220,000 tons in the previous year to 297,000 tons in 
2017. Another 14 modern dairy cow facilities with over 45,000 
shed spaces are under construction, for which we have 
obtained low-interest long-term bank loans. The challenging 
market situation for small and medium-sized businesses 
resulted in good acquisition opportunities and allowed us to 
take over several companies. We increased our agricultural 
area by 61% to 322,000 hectares as at the end of the year, of 
which around 60% is owned by the Group. In order to create 
the best possible conditions for this growth, we intensified 

FOREWORD OF  
THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

our efforts to win and train employees even further. This is  
impressively reflected in the number of over 670 students 
from different universities who completed an internship at 
one of our entities in the past year. Their number has thus 
more than doubled compared to the previous year. The 
Group’s total headcount increased by 63% to 6,710 last year. 

In the production area crop farming, the harvest of the fodder 
crops yielded predominantly good results, with a total volume 
of 900,000 tons. At the present stage, the adverse weather 
conditions in the key cultivation regions suggest that next 
year’s harvests will be lower. 

In 2017, we made important progress in our youngest business 
area, milk processing. Having gained valuable experience in 
the production and distribution of dairy products at our small 
test facilities in Voronezh and Novosibirsk in the past years, 
we decided to further expand these operations. In the fourth 
quarter of 2017, the Group acquired two additional dairies 
and thus increased its potential capacity for the processing of 

We consider the  
establishment of our  
own milk processing as  
a logical extension of  
our value chain.
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our own raw milk to 705 tons per day. In May 2018, as much 
as roughly 20% of the milk collected each day was already 
processed internally. The existing facilities produce sour and 
fresh milk products, long-life milk, butter, ice-cream, cheese 
and milk powder under own and private label brands. Being 
Russia’s largest raw milk producer, we consider the build-up 
of our own milk processing facilities the next logical step 
in expanding our value chain, which enables us to respond 
flexibly to fluctuations in the raw milk market and to further 
strengthen our negotiating position towards our customers.  
It is our strategic objective to position EkoNiva as Russia’s  
first vertically integrated producer of dairy products. 

We currently see the greatest challenge in the widespread 
practice of milk processors to partially replace milk fat in their 
dairy products with cheap vegetable fat, especially palm oil. 
This falsification, which is generally not visible to the con- 
sumer, has a negative impact on the general milk price level 
in Russia. Fortunately, policy-makers have become aware  
of this problem and introduced an electronic veterinary  

certificate with effect from 1 July 2018 to ensure more  
effective control of the processors. The certificate is designed 
to ensure the traceability of the milk from production to  
the final product. 

Overall, we benefit from our constantly growing wealth of ex-
perience in the construction of dairy cow facilities, in livestock 
breeding and in crop farming as well as in the processing 
and marketing of our products. My sincere thanks go to our 
employees, who contributed to the success of the fiscal year 
2017 and whose commitment allows us to look to the future 
with confidence. 
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ABOUT THE EKOSEM-AGRAR GROUP
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Headquartered in Walldorf, Germany, Ekosem-
Agrar GmbH is the German holding company  
of the EkoNiva Group, one of the largest Russian 
agricultural companies. Having successfully 
operated in the Russian agricultural sector for
over 20 years, the Group has a total herd of 
approx. 105,080 animals as of 31.05.2018, 
including around 51,850 dairy cows producing 
an average milk output of roughly 1,370 tons 
per day. This makes the Group the largest milk 
producer in Russia and one of the largest raw 
milk producers in the world. At the end of  
May 2018, Ekosem Agrar cultivates a total  
area of approx. 360,000 hectares. 

The Group employs more than 7,000 people  
in seven regions in Russia, primarily in  
the Chernozem region, one of the most fertile  
regions in the world.
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DAIRY   
FARMING 

At seven locations (including Rjazan from 31 December 
2017) the Ekosem-Agrar Group cultivates crops and 
focuses on the production of feed for its own herd. This 
mainly includes the cultivation of lucerne and maize as 
well as soya. The 902,000 tons of feed and 240,000 tons  
of grain produced in 2017 ensure the feed supply of  
the herd.

CROP  
FARMING 

Dairy farming is the core business of the Group and 
makes by far the biggest contribution to sales revenues. 
In the fiscal year (ending 31 December 2017), our 45,100 
dairy cows gave some 297,000 tons of milk at our loca-
tions in Russia. 

The continuous expansion of milk production, especial-
ly at our sites in Voronezh, Kaluga and Novosibirsk, as 
well as the take-over of facilities, enabled the significant 
growth of the dairy cow herd and milk output in the past 
financial year. The scheduled capacity utilization of the 

new dairy cow facilities and the other projects under 
construction mean that an increase in milk output is 
already certain for the current year.

Most of the raw milk produced in our facilities is sold to 
dairies, but our own milk processing facilities are being 
expanded continuously. The dairy farming operations 
also comprise the sale of breeding cattle and male calves 
as well as the sale of animals no longer used for milk 
production to slaughterhouses.

Besides producing fodder for the Group’s internal require-
ments, the fertile soil in the Chernozem region is also 
used for growing grain, sugar beets, oil seeds and other 
food crops for sale to third parties. The distribution of 
the operations across several climate zones in Russia also 
prevents the risk of major crop failures due  
to bad weather conditions.  
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DAIRY   
FARMING 

MILK  
PROCESSING 

By acquiring two dairies in the fourth quarter of 2017, 
the Group‘s value chain was further expanded. At the 
three locations with a potential processing capacity of 
705 tons of milk per day, in May 2018 about 20% of the 
milk that was milked daily was already processed by the 
company itself. The existing plants produce sour and 
fresh milk products, long-life milk, butter, ice-cream, 

cheese and milk powder under our own brand as well  
as private label brands. With its own milk processing 
facilities, the Group is able to react flexibly to fluctua-
tions on the raw milk market and to further strengthen 
its negotiating position with its customers. In the future, 
vertical integration in the value chain is to be successively 
expanded.
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SUCKLER  
COW FARMING 

Cattle for meat production, primarily of the Angus race, 
are kept on extensive pastures in Voronezh, Orenburg 
and Novosibirsk. As of 31 December 2017 the herd  
of suckler cows comprises around 2,140 animals and  

SEED  
PRODUCTION  
AND BREEDING 

Some 25,400 tons of seeds (as of: 31 December 2017) for 
sale to third-party customers make the Group one of the 
large seed producers in Russia. The Ekosem-Agrar Group 
acquires licenses for varieties for exclusive reproduction 
and distribution in Russia, mostly for grain, grain legumes, 

grasses, clover and lucerne. The Ekosem-Agrar Group 
will expand the plant breeding operations in future and 
already registered its first own varieties for government 
examination in Russia last year. The licenses are expected 
to be granted in spring 2019. 

is to be further expanded at the locations in Orenburg 
and Novosibirsk. Low-yield grasslands are available there 
which are particularly well suited for extensive animal 
keeping.



  13About the Ekosem-Agrar Group

ORGANIC  
FARMING 

In the production area organic faming, the company 
produces in the Kaluga region organic beef as well  
as various organic food crops in compliance with the  
EU regulations for organic farming. The Group sees 
growing market potential for organic products both in 
Russia and in export markets. The “Savinskaja Niva”  

SEED  
PRODUCTION  
AND BREEDING 

farm cultivates more than 3,400 hectares and keeps  
418 suckler cows (as of: 12/31/2017) on extensive  
pastures for the production of meat. The land is 
cultivated in a resource-conserving manner, with erosion-
reducing, non-plough tillage increasing the humus 
build-up and maintaining the natural structure of the soil. 
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MILK PROCESSING

 

•   The dairy products of our “Academy of Dairy Science” 
brand win the METRO Quality Award 2017.

•  In addition to the two already existing test facilities, 
two dairies in the Kaluga and Voronezh regions were 
acquired. The total capacity of the group for raw milk 
processing is thus growing significantly and is already 
at 705 tons per day.

A look back  
on 2017

The METRO Quality Award has been presented to regional suppliers 
and manufacturers in Russia since 2007. 

The company sells fresh and long-life milk as well as sour and fresh 
milk products under the „Academy of Dairy Science“ brand.

Milking carousels enable the dairy farms to perform the milking  
process quickly and comfortably.

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION

•   A total milk output of some 297,000 tons in 2017 
makes the company the largest milk producer in  
the Russian Federation. At the end of the year, the  
company produces 1,090 tons of milk per day, which  
represents an increase of just under 84% on the  
previous year. 

•   Construction of the first facility for 6,000 animals in 
the Novosibirsk region begins.

•   The number of dairy cows increases by more than
17,000 to 45,100 animals (as of: 31.12.2017).

Holstein-Frisean dairy cows in the facilities based in Novosibirsk 
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•   The Savinskaya Niva organic farming facility in the 
Kaluga region is the first Russian organic supplier 
of the German baby food producer HiPP. The first 
delivery for the Russian product range took place in 
February. In total, the company produced more than 
15 tons of organic meat for HiPP in 2017. There are 
also concrete plans for future cooperation.

•   EkoNiva decides to add a cheese dairy with a planned
daily processing capacity of 60 tons to the test facility  
in Voronezh.

•   The Ryazan region is added to our list of locations in
six regions on 31 December 2017. Some 200 km from 
Moscow, the company cultivates 50,000 ha and keeps 
2,700 dairy cows.

•   New dairy cow facilities are put into operation in 
Kaluga and Voronezh; in Novosibirsk, an existing  
facility is being extensively expanded.

•   EkoNiva is the largest investor in the Russian dairy
production sector.

AWARDS FOR ACHIEVEMENTS  
AND COMMITMENTS

•   Stefan Dürr wins the first SME Award of the German-
Russian Economic Association.

•   The Mezhdurechie facility receives an award as the 
best agricultural company in the Tyumen area.

EXPERIENCING AGRICULTURE –  
ASSUMING RESPONSIBILITY 

•   The educational programme offered by the „Academy
of Dairy Science” is particularly popular with families 
and school classes. More than 30,000 visitors already 
participated in our tours.

•  The further training programmes for young agricultural 
experts enjoy a great reputation at universities and  
colleges. In 2017, more than 670 students from diffe-
rent universities and colleges completed an internship 
at one of our locations.

New dairy cow facility in Aristovo in Kaluga Oblast

Commissioning of a dairy farm in the Voronezh region in the  
presence of Viktor Shevtsov, District Administrator of Liski County and  
Alexei Gordeev, Deputy Prime Minister of the Russian Federation

Peter Harry Carstensen (former Prime Minister of Schleswig-Holstein) 
and Dr. Thomas Overbeck (President of the German-Russian Economic 
Association) present the award, which honours outstanding entrepre-
neurial achievements in bilateral business transactions.

The focus of the excursions is on imparting knowledge about the 
origin and production of food.
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The Ekosem-Agrar company  
The Ekosem-Agrar Group is one  
of the largest agricultural companies  
in the Russian Federation. As of  
31 December 2017, the Group  
cultivated an area of almost 322,000 
hectares. The herd comprised  
approx. 97,520 animals, 45,100 of 
which were dairy cows.
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GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

1. FUNdAMENTAlS OF THE GROUP
 
1.1  Group structure and business model
The activities of the Ekosem-Agrar Group, hereinafter 
referred to as “Ekosem-Agrar” or “the Group”, make it 
one of the largest agricultural companies in the Russian 
Federation (hereinafter also referred to as Russia or RF). 
As of the balance sheet date on 31 december 2017,  
the company had a herd of approx. 45,100 dairy cows –  
an increase of approx. 64% on the previous year  
(2016: approx. 27,960). The total cattle herd increased  
to approx. 97,520 animals* (2016: approx. 64,000). The 
company’s total agricultural area amounted to close  
to approx. 322,000 hectares as of the balance sheet date, 
which represents an increase of 61% on the previous 
year (2016: 200,000 hectares).

Ekosem-Agrar GmbH is the parent and holding company 
of the Group. The company coordinates the activities  
of the German and Russian subsidiaries and determines 
the strategic development of the Group. The Group’s 
operations are mostly based in the Russian Federation.

As of 31 december 2017, our business segments with  
the respective production areas in Russia were divided 
into the following regions: Voronezh, Kursk, Kaluga, 
Orenburg, Tyumen and Novosibirsk. Ryazan became a 
new segment of the Group effective 31 December 2017.

(Land and animals as at 31 December 2017, production figures for the fiscal year 2017)

*Thereof 96,116 animals – 98.6% – owned by the Group (2016: 62,285, 97.3%)
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The modern free-range sheds for the dairy cows offer a high level of animal comfort  
and enable efficient work organization.

As in the previous year, the Group’s business activity 
breaks down into six production areas, namely  
dairy farming, crop farming, milk processing, seed  
production and breeding, suckler cow farming  
and organic farming. This structure serves to better 
understand the production activities and the business 
of the Group. These areas are not separately managed 
business units, and no separate figures are recorded 

and posted for them for monitoring by the executive 
management. Moreover, there are no clear dividing 
lines between the individual areas. This does not affect 
the differentiation between segments (point 28 of the 
notes). The overview shows the distribution of the pro-
duction areas in the segments. Information referring to 
the production areas thus covers all segments in which 
the respective production area is represented.

The table below provides an overview of our production areas:

Production area locations in the RF Employees Established

2017 2016 2017 2016

dairy farming 6* 5 2,415 1,513 2002

Crop farming 7* 6 1,435 786 2002

Milk processing 3 2 585 32 2012

Seed production and breeding 1 1 77 76 2002

Suckler cow farming 3 3 43 37 2010

Organic farming 1 1 40 33 2012

*including Rjazan (segment of the Group from 31.12.2017)
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Dairy farming is the core activity of the Group. A milk 
output of roughly 297,000 tons in 2017 (2016: 220,000 
tons) made the Group the largest milk producer in 
the Russian Federation. As of the balance sheet date, 
the company had 45,100 dairy cows at six locations in 
Russia. At over 22,000, by far the largest number of dairy 
cows are kept at Voronezh. In the past fiscal year, the 
largest part of the raw milk produced in the company’s 
facilities was sold to dairies; only a small portion was 
processed internally. The dairy farming operations also 
comprise the sale of breeding cattle, male calves as  
well as the sale of animals no longer used for milk  
production to slaughterhouses.

The crop farming production area primarily grows  
crops for the feed supply of the company’s own herd. 
Besides grass and maize silage, this mainly includes 
forage maize and soy. 902,000 tons of fodder1 (2016: 
913,000 tons) and 240,000 tons of grain (2016: 163,000 
tons) were harvested in the reporting period. This  
secures the supply for the company’s own herd.  

In addition, grain, sugar beets, oilseeds and other food 
crops are cultivated for sale to third parties. The fertile 
soil in the Chernozem region provides ideal conditions 
for these activities. Ekosem-Agrar’s crop farming opera-
tions rely on new technologies for increased efficiency. 
GPS-based precision farming applications are used to 
cultivate the individual fields in accordance with their 
specific requirements for optimized resource manage-
ment.

Milk processing is a relatively new production area  
of the Group, which intends to increase the vertical  
integration of its value chain successively, though.  
In addition to the two test facilities in Voronezh and  
Novosibirsk, another two dairies were acquired in  
Kaluga and Voronezh in the fourth quarter of 2017.  
This increases the Group‘s potential processing capa-
city to 705 tons per day. Of these, 50 tons are fresh  
milk products, 95 tons are curds, fresh and semi-hard 
cheeses and 560 tons are long-life milk and milk powder 
production. In May 2018, the daily volume processed 
by the company itself was approx. 21 tons for fresh milk 
products, 18 tons for curd, fresh and semi-hard cheese 
and 206 tons for long-life milk and milk powder. This 
corresponds to an own processing of approx. 20% of the 
daily milked milk. The above mentioned acquisitions 
represent another step in the company’s transformation 
into a vertically integrated producer of dairy products. 
The self-produced products are distributed under own 
and private label brands. The internal milk processing 
facilities allow the Group to respond flexibly to fluctua-
tions in the raw milk market and to further strengthen 
its negotiating position towards its customers. 

In seed production and breeding, the Group is one 
of Russia‘s largest seed producers, producing approxi-
mately 25,400 tons (2016: approx. 26,500 tons) of seed 
for distribution to third parties. We acquire licenses for 
specific varieties for exclusive reproduction and distri-
bution in Russia. We use Russian, German and Canadian 
varieties and primarily produce seeds for grain, grain 
legumes, grass, clover and lucerne. We also work on the 
hybridization of maize and intend to further expand  
these activities. We have been active in the breeding of 
our own seeds for three years and last year we registered 
the first varieties of winter wheat for government exa-
mination. We expect the licenses to be granted in early 
2019 after the end of the two-year examination period. 

Besides fresh milk, traditional sour milk products such as kefir  
are also produced under the company‘s own „Academy of  
Dairy Sciences“ brand.

1   fresh mass
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Well ventilated stables with freedom of movement ensure good animal health and provide the basis  
for a high milk yield of our cows.

Suckler cow farming comprises traditional pasture 
feeding for meat production at the company’s locations 
in Voronezh, Orenburg and Novosibirsk. As of the 
balance sheet date, the herd comprises 2,140 suckler 
cows (2016: 1,599). Most of the animals kept for meat 
production are of the Angus race. While the male calves 
are sold to fatteners at the age of six to nine months, 
most of the suckler cows and female calves are kept in 
the herd.

The company’s organic farming operations are based 
in the Kaluga region and produce organic beef and 
various organic food crops in accordance with the EU 
regulations for organic farming. Although the market for 
organically produced food in Russia is less developed 
than in Germany, there has been a movement towards a 
more conscious and healthier nutrition in the big cities 
in the last few years. The company wants to participate 
in this trend.

For more detailed information on the structure and 
the segments of the Ekosem-Agrar Group, please refer 
to points 1, 2 and 28 in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

1.2  Objectives and strategies
The performance of the Group is largely dependent on 
the performance of the individual production areas in 
the segments. The Group defines strategic objectives 
for its segments in its plans and budgets. Strategies are 
determined for the achievement of these objectives. 
The Group pursues a consistent strategy for the produc-
tion areas within the segments. The planning is updated 
regularly, taking into account aspects such as current 
market developments, the competitive position of the 
Ekosem-Agrar Group and the government-controlled 
framework conditions. On the following pages, the  
objectives and strategies of the individual segments  
are aggregated for the production areas.

Dairy farming: The Ekosem-Agrar Group is currently 
the largest raw milk producer in Russia and Europe and 
one of the largest in the world. The company wants to 
expand this position based on continued good govern-
ment subsidies. To achieve this goal, the company in-
tends to further expand its dairy cow herd and to build 
additional dairy cow facilities. Moreover, we want to 
improve the high efficiency of our production processes 
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continuously. We therefore rely on large plants featuring 
state-of-the-art technology, well-trained staff and cows 
with excellent genes. 

Crop farming: Securing the feed supply for the 
company’s own herd is the primary objective of the crop 
farming operations. The agricultural land used for this 
purpose is to be expanded for the individual locations. 
As the productivity of the dairy cow herd hinges on the 
quality of their feed, we pay special attention to con-
tinuously improving the cultivation methods and the 
selection of varieties for the fodder crops. Besides this, 
the production of economically attractive food crops 
is designed to make a profitable revenue contribution. 
For this purpose, we primarily rely on the cultivation of 
summer and winter wheat, maize, sugar beets, peas and 
oil seeds, mainly soy and sunflowers. Our seed opera-
tions in Kursk give us direct access to varieties that are 
ideally matched to the climatic conditions in Russia.

Milk processing: In the past years, we established  
two small dairies for trial operation in Novosibirsk and 
Voronezh with the aim of gaining initial experience in 
the production and marketing of dairy products. Based 
on the insight gained during the trial phase, manage-
ment decided to expand the Group’s processing capa-
city significantly. As a result of the acquisition of the two 
additional dairies, the Group’s daily processing capacity 
increased to roughly 245 tons of milk as of May 2018. 
The Group’s dairies are supplied exclusively by its own 
dairy cow facilities and produce a wide range of dairy 
products, which are sold through food stores, supermar-
kets and its own points of sale. It is planned to make the 
Ekosem-Agrar Group the leading vertically integrated 
supplier of dairy products in Russia in the medium term. 

Seed production and breeding: Apart from supplying 
the Group with high-quality seeds, this production area 
also focuses on the development of new varieties.  
Going forward, the production of grass seeds and the 
hybridization of maize is to be further expanded. We 
regard our in-house seed breeding activities – which are 
partly conducted in cooperation with foreign breeding 
companies – as a long-term investment that will secure 
our leading position in the Russian seeds market in the 
future. Another seeds plant is to be built this year with 
a view to increasing the productivity of this production 
area.

Grain harvest in the Black Soil region of Voronezh

Suckler cow farming: We intend to expand our suckler 
cow farming activities at the existing locations in  
Orenburg and Novosibirsk. These regions are parti-
cularly well suited for extensive animal farming due to 
the availability of areas that are not suitable for crop 
farming.

Organic farming: By producing and marketing organi-
cally produced food, the aim is to participate in the 
social development in Russia towards a healthier life-
style. This strategy is confirmed by a long-term supply 
agreement with baby food producer HiPP for organic 
beef for the Russian market. Moreover, the company 
intends to seize export opportunities arising as a result 
of the strongly growing demand for organic food, e.g. in 
Germany. This production area is poised for profitable 
growth in the coming years.

1.3  Control system
Corporate planning and control is primarily based  
on the following KPIs: sales revenues, earnings  
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization  
(EBITDA) as well as earnings before interest and taxes 
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(EBIT; operating result). Being a producer of raw milk, 
seeds and food crops, the Group’s sales revenues essen-
tially depend on parameters such as the number of 
dairy cows and their milk output, the size of the areas 
under cultivation and the yields per hectare as well as 
the price trend in the milk and grain markets. 

The Ekosem-Agrar Group aims to achieve continuous 
profitable growth by increasing its dairy cow herd, buil-
ding additional dairy cow facilities and expanding its 
farmland. Part of the resulting income is to be invested 
in the expansion of the value chain. For this purpose, 
the first steps towards milk processing were taken in 
the past years and these activities are to be expanded 
successively in the coming years. 

1.4  Research and development
To constantly improve the genetics of the dairy cow 
herd, an active selection based on different perfor-
mance indicators is made at all locations were dairy 
cows are kept. We perform quality controls in our own 
labs for the analysis of milk and fodder and work to 
continuously improve the feed supply of the herd.  

72 dairy cows can be milked simultaneously on one milking carousel.

In the past fiscal year, the use of silage additives was 
tested successfully across the Group. This helped to 
reduce feed losses during the silage of the fodder and  
to increase the quality of the feed. Moreover, the  
broad data basis gained as a result delivered valuable  
insight into the effectiveness and efficiency of the silage  
additives used. We are currently examining the use  
of lucerne with a reduced lignin content and hope to  
have the first results in the next fiscal year. 

Our operations in Kursk not only produce seeds but also 
started developing their own varieties two years ago. 
We consider Russia to be an attractive market for seed 
varieties that have been adapted to the special climatic 
conditions prevailing in the country. last year we regis-
tered our first own varieties for government examina-
tion in Russia. We expect the first variety to be officially 
approved for own breeding at the beginning of 2019. By 
licensing our own varieties, we want to increase the ver-
tical integration of the seeds production and breeding 
operations and defend our leading position among local 
seed producers.
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2.  ECONOMIC REPORT

2.1  Economic environment

Overall economic trend
According to the latest information on the global econo-
mic trend provided by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) in April 2018, the world economy grew by 3.8% 
last year. The biggest contribution was made by the 
emerging and developing countries, whose gross dome-
stic product increased by 4.8%. Growth in the industri-
alized countries stood at 2.3%, up 0.6% on the previous 
year. Industrialized countries from the eurozone grew 
by 2.3%, with Germany contributing 2.5%. The economy 
in Russia, the main output market of the Ekosem-Agrar 
Group, improved noticeably from -0.2% to 1.5%, which 
means that it returned to growth. Russia’s contribution 
to the relatively strong growth of the emerging and  
developing countries remains disproportionately low.

Developments in the global and Russian milk markets
While the previous year saw the global milk output 
decline for the first time in many years, which was an 
unusual occurrence, milk prices embarked on a stable 
upward trend in the second half of 2016. This trend 
continued into the first quarter of 2017. Whereas the 
prices in the large producing countries showed a mostly 
stable sideways movement until the end of the year, 
the milk price in Russia dropped sharply by mid-year 
and stabilized only in the fourth quarter of 2017. At 811 
million tons, total global milk output in 2017 was up by 
1.4% on the previous year. This increase in the global 
volume is probably one of the reasons of the downward 
price trend in the world market seen since the beginning 
of the current fiscal year.

The Russian milk market continues to be characterized 
by structural undersupply, which means that less milk 
is produced in Russia than is processed and consumed. 
This shortfall must be covered by imports of dairy 
products. As in the previous years, Belarus was the most 
important supplier of imported milk. The fact that raw 
milk prices in Russia tend to be higher than in other 
countries has prompted many milk-processing opera-
tions to use cheap palm oil instead of milk fat without 
disclosing this to consumers on the product label. 
According to estimates by the Russian Trade Ministry, 
20% of the dairy products are falsifications, i.e. products 

in which milk fat is substituted by vegetable fats. The 
government in Moscow is now taking more effective 
countermeasures against this (illegal) practice and plans 
to introduce an “electronic veterinary certificate” before 
the end of this year. The certificate is designed to allow 
the Russian Consumer Protection Authority to identify 
adulterated dairy products and to impose sanctions on 
the producers. This move should have a positive impact 
on milk prices in Russia.

According to the Russian Statistical Office (Rosstat), 
Russian dairy farmers produced approx. 15.7 million 
tons of milk in 2017, up by approx. 4% on the previous 
year’s 15.1 million tons. At the end of 2017, Russia’s then 
Agricultural Minister Alexander Tkachev nevertheless 
estimated that the shortfall of Russian-produced milk 
amounts to 7 million tons. This structural shortfall is 
unlikely to be eliminated in the medium term. Not least 
due to this undersupply, milk prices in Russia have 
usually been higher than in other regions of the world, 
although they tended to move in the same direction  
as world market prices. 
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The Ekosem-Agrar Group is the largest milk producer in 
Russia and one of the largest in the world. A total milk 
output of approx. 297,0002 tons in the past fiscal year 
was equivalent to a market share (milk production by 
agricultural companies) of close to 2% in 2017. The low 
percentage shows that the milk production sector in 
Russia – similar to other countries – is highly fragmented. 

2.2  Business performance

General performance of the Ekosem-Agrar Group
Against the background of a good economic environ-
ment for the agricultural sector in Russia, the Ekosem-
Agrar Group delivered a positive performance in the  
reporting period. With revenues showing a dynamic 
trend, the Group generated much higher earnings  
at all levels. In the opinion of the management, opera- 
ting performance (milk output growth, expansion of  
the herd, harvest yield) was satisfactory. Although  
the sales revenues forecast and EBIT were not quite  
achieved in the second half of 2017 due to weaker  
milk prices, adjusted EBITDA is fully in line with the  
forecast corridor (target 2017: sales 175 - 185 million 
euros, EBITDA 65 - 75 million euros, EBIT 45 - 50 mil-

lion euros). Total output (revenue plus changes in the 
value and inventory of finished and unfinished goods 
as well as biological assets and other operating income) 
increased noticeably from EUR 149.2 million to EUR 
246.1 million. This includes other operating income of 
EUR 21.7 million and valuation gains (“lucky buy”) from 
acquisitions of  EUR 29.3 million. Adjusted for this valu-
ation gain, total output amounted to EUR 216.8 million. 
The Group’s revenues were primarily driven by raw milk 
production, which accounted for 68% (previous year: 
62%). Major progress was achieved in the youngest 
production area, milk processing. By increasing its own 
processing capacity, the Group implements its strategy 
of expanding its vertical integration and become the 
leading vertically integrated supplier of dairy products 
in Russia. 

Business performance in the production areas
On the following pages, the business performance of 
the Group is described by means of the six production 
areas, which break down as follows over our seven  
segments as described above as at the reporting date  
of 31 December 2017.

1 Sources: own data, VEMA
2 Of which 286,000 tons were sold in 2017
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The Group’s dairy farming area increased its milk out-
put significantly compared to the previous year. This 
applies to both the absolute quantity and the output 
per cow. Overall, the Group collected some 297,000 tons 
of milk in 2017 (previous year: 220,000 tons). Daily milk 
output increased from approx. 594 tons on 31 Decem-
ber 2016 to 1,090 tons on 31 December 2017. This is 
primarily attributable to the expansion of the dairy cow 
herd in Voronezh, Kaluga and Novosibirsk. The herd was 
expanded by a total of 64% to roughly 45,100 animals as 
of the reporting date (previous year: 27,960). The total 
herd (dairy cows and young cattle as well as suckler 
cows and cows in organic farming) increased to 97,520 
animals (previous year: 64,000; +52%). The average daily 
milk output per lactating cow improved from 25.7 kg  
to 27.4 kg on an annual average. 

As a result of the construction of new dairy cow facili-
ties and the completion of facilities under construction 
as well as various acquisitions, the dairy cow capacity 
increased by approx. 23,000 shed spaces. The Ekosem-
Agrar Group is currently carrying out further construc-
tion measures, which will greatly increase the dairy cow 
herd and the raw milk output in the current fiscal year 
(see Forecast for more information).

Low yield areas, on which farming is not worthwhile, are very well suited for extensive 
suckler cow farming for meat production.

As far as breeding cattle is concerned, over 1,000 heifers 
were sold in the past fiscal year. 

In the crop farming area, the 2017 harvest season 
provided a mixed picture. While the cool summer was 
detrimental to the developing of soy, maize and sun-
flowers, the wheat harvest yielded record results in large 
parts of Russia. The good wheat harvest volumes led to 
correspondingly low selling prices, which means that 
only average results were achieved at the bottom line. 
Fodder crops yielded good harvest volumes, with the 
total harvest of roughly 902,000 tons almost reaching 
the previous year’s 913,000 tons. Harvests of maize and 
soy were below expectations due to low precipitation 
and cool summer temperatures. While sugarbeet yields 
were good, their price trend at the harvest season was 
disappointing. 

After the successful completion of the first trial phase 
with two smaller dairies, the company decided to push 
ahead with the expansion of its milk processing acti-
vities. As a result of the acquisition of additional dairies, 
the Group currently has a milk processing capacity of 
705 tons per day. In relation to the Group’s total milk 
output, however, the amount of internally processed 
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milk was still low in the past fiscal year. Building on the 
increased internal processing capacity, it will now be 
expanded successively. The staff and infrastructural
resources required for this purpose, especially for  
sales, have already been put in place. In the fiscal year 
2017, the Group already offered a wide range of dairy 
products (fresh milk, yoghurt, curd, kefir, sour cream)  
in selected stores, supermarkets and its own points of  
sale, especially in the Voronezh region, and worked  
to expand its relations with retailers.  

The seed production and breeding operations produ-
ced some 25,400 tons (previous year: 26,522 tons) of 
seeds in the past fiscal year. The main focus was placed 
on improving the cleaning and handling of the seeds. 
The Group installed a new production line and currently 
has a daily production capacity for some 500 tons of 
seeds. Moreover, additional storage capacity for roughly 
7,000 tons was installed. 

The past fiscal year saw us place a strong focus on the 
hybridization of maize, which we want to expand further 
in the future. Our further development activities in this 
area are described in chapter 1.4 Research and develop-
ment.

In the suckler cow farming area, the number of  
breeding cows increased from 1,992 at the end of 2016 
to 2,558 at the end of the past fiscal year.

Our organic farming operations made further progress 
in 2017. About 15 tons of beef were sold to baby food 
producer HiPP in the past fiscal year. The sale of roughly 
50 tons of organic buckwheat seeds was also a big 
success for this production area. Our quality products, 
which are produced in the Kaluga region, are meanwhile 
sold to a large number of customers, including German 
companies. This gives evidence of the competitiveness 
of our EU-certified organic food production activities. 

2.3  Results of operation, financial and net  
assets position

a) Results of operation

Revenues and earnings pick up noticeably as milk 
output increases
The Ekosem-Agrar Group generated sales revenues of 
close to EUR 175 million in the fiscal year 2017, up 47% 
on the previous year. This marks the lower end of the 
projected range of between EUR 175 million and EUR 
185 million. At EUR 246.1 million, total output (revenue 
plus changes in the value and inventory of finished and 
unfinished goods as well as biological assets and other 
operating income) was up by around EUR 97 million on 
the previous year (2016: EUR 149.2 million). This includes
other operating income of 21.7 million and valuation
gains (“lucky buy”) from acquisitions of EUR 29.3 million. 
Adjusted for this valuation gain, total output amounted 
to EUR 216.8 million. 

Raw milk prices in Russia picked up sharply in the first 
quarter of the reporting period but fell again by mid-
year and did not stabilize before the fourth quarter of 
2017. The average exchange rate for the fiscal year 2017 
was RUB/EUR 65.901, compared to RUB/EUR 74.231  
in the fiscal year 2016. This results in a positive effect  
of a good 13% on euro-denominated sales revenues 
compared to the exchange rate of the previous year.  
The balance sheet is equally affected by the exchange 
rate effects. The closing rate of the reporting year was 
RUB/EUR 68.867, compared to RUB/EUR 63.811 in the 
previous year. This means that a stable ruble value 
would lead to a euro amount in the closing balance 
sheet that is approx. 7% lower than in the opening 
balance sheet. 

KPI 2017 2017, adjusted 2016 Plan 2017

Sales revenues € 174.6 million - € 118.7 million € 175 - 185 million 

Gross operating income € 246.1 million  € 216.8 million € 149.2 million n. a.

EBITDA € 98.8 million € 69.5 million € 50.0 million € 65 - 75 million 

EBIT € 73.8 million € 44.5 million € 31.9 million € 45 - 50 million 

Net income for the year € 36.8 million € 7.5 million € 4.0 million n. a.

Milk output per lactating cow 27.4 kg - 25.7 kg n. a.

Group results
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As in the previous year, the sale of milk made the biggest 
contribution to the Group’s revenues and climbed from 
EUR 74.6 million in 2016 to EUR 123.9 million in 2017. 
Revenues from the sale of milk were thus up by approx. 
66% on the previous year. Revenues from the sale of 
grain and other agricultural plant products totaled 
EUR 33.4 million in the reporting period (previous year: 
EUR 29.1 million), while livestock and animal products 
contributed EUR 14.5 million (previous year: EUR 13.6 
million) to total revenues. The segments’ sales revenues 
are shown under point 28 in the notes. 

The result from operating activities (EBIT) improved 
from EUR 31.9 million in the previous year to EUR 73.8 
million. Adjusted for other income from valuation 
gains (“lucky buy”) of EUR 29.3 million, adjusted EBIT 
amounted to EUR 44.5 million and is thus at the lower 
end of the planning corridor of EUR 45 million to EUR 
50 million. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) stood at EUR 98.8 million 
(previous year: EUR 50.0 million); adjusted for the above 
effect, EBITDA stood at EUR 69.5 million in the middle of 
the planning corridor of EUR 65 million to EUR 75 million. 
This is equivalent to an adjusted EBIT margin of 18% 
(previous year: 21%) and an adjusted EBITDA margin  
of 28% (previous year: 34%). 

The cost of materials totaled EUR 78.1 million in the 
year under review (2016: EUR 53.7 million). This increase 
is mainly the result of higher expenses relating to the 
Group’s operational growth and the related additional 
expenses for purchased fodder, wear-and-tear parts  
as well as pesticides and fertilizers. 

Personnel expenses climbed from EUR 28.7 million 
to EUR 40.8 million in the reporting period, which is 
equivalent to an increase by approx. 42%. This additio-
nal expenses resulted primarily from the increase in the 
workforce resulting from acquisitions and operational 
growth, which increased from 4,111 in 2016 to 6,710  
in 2017 year-on-year.

Depreciation/amortization rose from EUR 18.1 million 
to EUR 25.0 million. This was due, on the one hand, to 
the strong increase in property, plant and equipment 
and, on the other hand, to a change in exchange rates. 

Financial expenses increased by around 17% from  
EUR 32.0 million to EUR 37.6 million. Interest expenses, 
netted against government subsidies, climbed from  
EUR 28.0 million in the previous year to EUR 35.1 million 

in the reporting period. Exchange losses were lower and 
amounted to only EUR 0.1 million in the fiscal year 2017 
(previous year: EUR 1.8 million). In the course of the 
year, the Russian key interest rate declined from 10%  
to 7.75% at the end of 2017. This trend should have a 
further positive effect on the financing side with a  
certain time lag.

As a result of the above developments, the Group’s 
earnings, adjusted for the lucky buy effect, amounted 
to EUR 7.5 million, which clearly exceeded the previous 
year’s EUR 4.0 million. Including the lucky buy, earnings 
before taxes stood at EUR 36.8 million. 

b) Financial position
Our centrally administered financial management 
ensures that the financing requirements of all compa-
nies in the Group are sufficiently covered at all times. 
This holds true for both current business activities and 
our investment projects. The underlying financing plan 
encompasses all significant companies and is updated 
on a rolling basis. In addition, the Group prepares  
up-to-date cash projections.

Payment terms reflecting standard industry practice as 
well as bank guarantees are important instruments for 
our cooperations with suppliers. On the customer side, 
we have individualized agreements with customers  
in the production area milk processing – these partly  
include regular advance payments.

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 
amounted to EUR 41.3 million in the reporting period 
(previous year: EUR 35.0 million). The increase in wor-
king capital in the amount of EUR 11.4 million (previous 
year: increase of EUR 20.3 million) is essentially due  
to the rise in other receivables and assets (EUR 10.5  
million) and other liabilities (EUR 12.3 million) as well  
as to the decline in trade payables (EUR 9.8 million). 

Interest payments of EUR 48.9 million (previous year: 
EUR 36.5 million) and government interest subsidies 
received of EUR 14.8 million (previous year: EUR 9.1  
million) resulted in a cash outflow from operating activi-
ties in the amount of EUR 10.3 million (previous year:  
EUR 13.1 million).

At the bottom line, the negative operating cash flow  
reflects the Group’s growth and the required invest-
ments in its operations. The company is aware of  
this situation and manages it.
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Net cash used for investments in property, plant and 
equipment amounted to EUR 131.7 million in the 
reporting period (previous year: EUR 28.6 million). This 
amount includes subsidies received for the purchase of 
property, plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 
31.7 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). Net cash 
used for equity investments totaled EUR 27.9 million 
(previous year: EUR 0.1 million). The main investments 
were made in the Voronezh, Kaluga and Novosibirsk 
segments. 

Net cash provided by financing activities amounted 
to EUR 180.8 million (previous year: EUR 50.6 million). 
The main items are proceeds from borrowings in the 
amount of EUR 416.1 million (previous year: EUR 180.4 
million) as well as repayments of borrowings of EUR 
220.6 million (2016: EUR 119.9 million). The high inco-
ming and outgoing payments are due to the short-term 
loans, which are regularly repaid to the Russian banks 
and then extended again by the latter. For further infor-
mation, see point 2.3 c) Net assets position and 5.2  
Risk report, liquidity risk.

c) Net assets position
To analyze the balance sheet, the influence of the  
change in exchange rates must also be taken into 
account. The ruble/euro exchange rate stood at RUB/
EUR 68.687 on 31 december 2017, down by approx. 7% 
on the RUB/EUR 63.811 recorded on 31 december 2016. 
This had a dampening effect on the carrying amounts of 
the Group’s assets in euros as of the end of 2017. Total 
assets were up by approx. EUR 327.6 million on the pre-
vious year and stood at EUR 942.7 million on 31 decem-
ber 2017 (previous year: EUR 615.1 million). The rise in 
total assets is primarily due to the increase in property, 
plant and equipment resulting from our investment 
program. 

Non-current assets amounted to EUR 724.0 million  
as of the reporting date, up 55% on the reference date  
(31 december 2016: EUR 468.3 million); in exchange rate 
adjusted terms, they increased by approx. 67%. Pro-
perty, plant and equipment, i.e. mainly buildings (incl. 
buildings under construction) and agricultural areas 
amounted to EUR 489.4 million as of the reporting date 

 
Families and school classes regularly come to our farms to experience all the steps of milk production  
and processing at first hand.
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(previous year: EUR 283.9 million) – of which EUR 83.9 
million from acquisitions. As of 31 December 2017, the 
Group cultivated some 322,000 hectares (previous year: 
approx. 200,000 hectares). Approx. 60.0% (previous 
year: 59.5%) of the total land was owned by the Group 
as of the balance sheet date. Non-current biological  
assets climbed 53% from EUR 121.6 million in the  
previous year to EUR 168.5 million in the reporting year.

Current assets were worth EUR 218.7 million on  
31 december 2017, up 49% on the previous year’s EUR 
146.7 million. The increase was essentially attributable 
to growing inventories, higher tax receivables and an 
increase in cash and cash equivalents. The customer 
structure was adjusted and expanded for reasons of 
diversification and in the context of our milk processing 
activities, leading to longer payment terms in some 
cases. Current biological assets, i.e. field inventories  
and male cattle, amounted to EUR 4.3 million (previous 
year: EUR 4.3 million).

The Group’s equity capital totaled EUR 165.0 million in 
the fiscal year, up by approx. 43% on the previous year’s 
EUR 115.8 million. The increase is essentially attribu-
table to the higher revaluation reserve and the Group 
results. The equity ratio stood at 17.5% (2016: 18.8%).

Total liabilities amounted to EUR 777.7 million on the 
balance sheet date, which represents an increase of 
56% (previous year: EUR 499.3 million). Non-current 
liabilities essentially comprise financial liabilities in the 
amount of approx. EUR 391.6 million (previous year: 
EUR 186.0 million). As in the previous year, an amount  
of EUR 128.7 million of this total relates to the two  
euro-denominated corporate bonds.

Current liabilities totaled approx. EUR 285.7 million 
(previous year: EUR 286.1 million) on the reporting 
date and mainly comprise current financial liabilities 
of approx. EUR 139.7 million (previous year: EUR 122.0 
million) as well as non-current financial liabilities of 
approx. EUR 23.0 million (previous year: EUR 91.4 
million); pursuant to IFRS, the latter must be counted 
towards current liabilities because of the violation of 
bank covenants. Current financial liabilities essentially 
comprise loans from Russian banks, which the company 
plans to refinance. Using short-term loans (up to one 
year) for financing is current practice, as long-term loans 
are usually available only for infrastructure and project 
financing purposes. Experience has shown that the 

banks make the repaid loans available again in a timely 
manner. Current liabilities also include trade payables in 
the amount of EUR 41.4 million (previous year: EUR 43.2 
million) as well as other current liabilities in the amount 
of EUR 61.7 million (previous year: EUR 14.1 million).

In the reporting year, all liabilities due as well as interest
on bank loans and corporate bonds were paid as 
planned. The ongoing expansion of the milk production 
activities leads to a further stabilization in earnings  
and thus helps to improve the cash position.

In summary, the management is satisfied with the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations in  
the past year. Apart from the noticeable increase in the  
raw milk output, the first major steps were taken with  
regard to milk processing. At the bottom line, the com-
pany operated profitably and generated a substantial 
net result – also excluding the influence of the lucky buy 
effect – in spite of the weak milk price trend in Russia.

2.4  Financial and non-financial performance  
indicators

a) Financial performance indicators 
The Group’s financial performance indicators are sales 
revenues, EBITDA and EBIT. They reflect the success 
of the Group’s business activities. Sales revenues of 
the Group amounted to EUR 174.6 million in the fiscal 
year 2017 (previous year: EUR 118.7 million). Adjusted 
EBITdA came in at EUR 69.5 million (previous year: 
EUR 50.0 million), while adjusted EBIT totaled EUR 44.5 
million (previous year: EUR 31.9 million). As the Group is 
largely debt-financed, financing costs play an important 
role for its economic success. In view of the fact that 
Russia’s key interest rate was cut from 10% to 7.75% in 
the course of 2017, the executive management currently 
expects interest on borrowings to show a rather positive 
trend. For more information on financial performance 
indicators, please refer to chapters 2.3 and 4 of the  
management report.

b) Non-financial performance indicators

Dairy cow herd and milk output
The dairy cow herd is a main driver of the company’s 
performance. Over the past ten years up to the reporting 
date, the dairy cow herd grew from roughly 4,000 ani-
mals to 45,100 animals. Given that the Group current-
ly still sells the larger part of its raw milk to processors, 
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the milk output has a direct impact on the Group’s reve-
nues. The milk output was increased from 220,000 tons 
in 2016 to 297,000 tons in 2017. On the one hand, this 
was achieved by expanding the dairy cow herd as de-
scribed above. On the other hand, the productivity per 
animal and day was increased from 25.7 kg in 2016  
to 27.4 kg in 2017. For more information about the  
milk output, please refer to chapter 5. 

Animal welfare
Animal welfare is an important factor influencing the 
milk output and the social acceptance of agriculture. 
The health and well-being of the animals plays an 
important role for both the output of the dairy cows and 
the consistent quality of the raw milk collected by the 
company. This is why all of Ekosem-Agrar’s new dairy 
cow facilities feature large free-range sheds with day-
light and natural ventilation. Well-trained staff perma-
nently control the health of the animals. We also attach 
great importance to the quality and the digestibility of 
the feed. Our employees carry out analyses to ensure 
the herd’s optimum feed supply in our own labs. 

For several years we have been organizing excursions  
to our dairy cow facilities at our sites in Voronezh,  
Kaluga and Novosibirsk so that everyone can see for 
themselves the well-being of our dairy cows. As part  
of the project called „Academy of dairy Science“ to  
promote the image of agriculture, over 30,000 partici-
pants have already visited our farms.

Employees
On 31 december 2017, the Group employed 6,710 peo-
ple (2016: 4,111). The increase by approx. 63% is essen-
tially attributable to takeovers (approx. 1,580 people), 
the expansion of the business operations through the 
utilization of further dairy cow facilities as well as the 
increased construction activity for the erection of new 
dairy cow facilities by the Group.

The company is increasing seeds for sale in the Kursk Oblast. The first own varieties are to be launched  
on the Russian market in 2019.
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Employees by production areas:

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

dairy farming 2,415 1,513

Crop farming 1,435 786

Milk processing 585 32

Seed production and 
breeding 77 76

Suckler cow farming 43 37

Organic farming 40 33

As a diversified agricultural company, Ekosem-Agrar 
needs a wide range of specialized skills. We therefore 
pay special attention to winning and developing mo- 
tivated employees, who are the most important factor  
for the company’s success.

Agriculture has clearly gained in esteem in the eyes of 
the Russian society over the past years. due to the strong 
competition for qualified labor, it remains difficult, 
however, to attract and retain a sufficient number of 
skilled workers. The Group has launched a number of 
initiatives to attract suitable employees to the company 
and to support their development. We cooperate with 

universities and colleges throughout Russia. Our popu-
lar scholarship and internship programs enable us to 
find the specialists of tomorrow and present ourselves 
to potential employees as an attractive employer. More 
than 670 students from various universities and colleges 
completed an internship in one of our locations in 2017. 

We place a special focus on the vocational and further 
training of our employees. The “EkoNiva Academy” fur-
ther training program was launched back in 2010, follo-
wed by the opening of a training center in the Voronezh 
region in 2015, where experienced employees of our 
company pass on their knowledge to potential, up-and-
coming specialists and executives. Moreover, all depart-
ments regularly complete training courses with internal 
and external experts. At seminars and excur-sions to 
Western Europe, North and South America, our specia-
lists and executives can expand their competencies and 
identify the industry’s latest best practice methods.

Investments in automation and workplace comfort help 
increase the productivity and satisfaction of our emplo-
yees and live up to our aspiration to be one of the most 
modern agricultural companies in Russia. Being one 
of the large employers in the rural area, the Ekosem-

The internship and training programs offer students, career starters and employees the opportunity to expand  
their specialist knowledge in a practical way.
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Agrar Group takes its social responsibility seriously. By 
providing financial support to kindergartens, schools 
and nursing homes as well as sports, music and veteran 
associations, we help to improve the quality of life of 
our employees and the local communities.

3.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE  
      REPORTING DATE

Between April 2018 and the completion of these conso-
lidated financial statements on 29 June 2018, the Group 
acquired three agricultural companies, OOO Megaferma 
Berezovka, OOO Bobrov Niva and OOO Shipova Dubrava. 
For more information on these acquisitions, please refer 
to point 35 in the notes. These and other smaller acqui-
sitions have increased the Group’s total land to approx. 
360,000 hectares as of the time of the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements, compared to approx. 
322,000 hectares on 31 December 2017. 

On 15 May 2018, the Group terminated the listing of 
its corporate bonds 2012/21 (DE000A1MLSJ1) and 
2012/22 (DE000A1R0RZ5) in the special segment of the 
open market of Stuttgart Stock Exchange, Bondm. At 
the end of the six-week period of notice, the bonds will 
be listed on the general open market of the Stuttgart 
Stock Exchange. The management of Ekosem-Agrar will 
continue its previous publication practice with the usual 
transparency despite the lower follow-up obligations 
in the general open market; only the annual follow-up 
rating will not be continued.

At the time of the preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements, the executive management viewed  
the company’s development mostly positive. The dairy  
cow herd increased from 45,100 animals on the repor-
ting date of 31 December 2017 to 51,850 on 31 May 2018. 
The daily milk output was increased by approx. 25% 
from roughly 1,090 tons (31 December 2017) to 1,370 
tons (31 May 2018). At the present stage, lower yields are 
expected for the production area crop farming. Due to 
above-average precipitation in the Novosibirsk region, 
it was not possible to sow all the seeds in the spring. 
Harvests in the Voronezh region are expected to be 
lower in view of a drought that has persisted for quite 
some time.

The ruble exchange rate, which stood at RUB/EUR 
68.867 on 31 December 2017, fluctuated only little in the 
first three months of 2018 and moved between RUB/

EUR 67.884 and RUB/EUR 71.394. The ruble temporarily 
fell to RUB/EUR 78.284 in April but recovered quickly 
and stood at RUB/EUR 72.521 on 31 May 2018. 

At the time of the preparation of the management 
report, bank loans for the construction of another ten 
dairy cow facilities were agreed at favorable interest  
rates. The investment loans committed total approx. 
EUR 360 million and mostly have a term of 15 years. 

As management sees further attractive growth opportu-
nities in the near future, various other financing options 
are currently being reviewed. This comprises both 
equity and debt capital and covers the full range from 
classic financing to making continued use of the capital 
markets.

4.  FOREcAST

The information on the future business performance 
presented in this chapter are management projections 
based on information such as market expectations,  
strategic decisions, regulatory framework conditions 
and exchange rate trends. A change in these and other 
parameters incorporated in the projections may result 
in adjustments or the non-occurrence of these projec-
tions. The assumptions and estimates upon which the 
above projections are based assume a considerable 
increase in the milk output resulting from the continued 
expansion of the production capacities.

At 3.9%, the International Monetary Fund projects the 
highest growth in eight years for the world economy in 
2018. According to the World Economic Outlook publis-
hed in April 2018, the IMF expects growth to increase by 
0.2 percentage points to 2.5% in the industrialized coun-
tries and to pick up moderately to 4.9% in the emerging 
and developing countries. A growth rate of 2.5% is 
projected for Germany for 2018. Growth in the Russian 
economy is expected to accelerate by 0.2 percentage 
points to 1.7%.

Forecast summary
Based on the current performance of the Group and the 
projects planned and initiated, the executive manage-
ment expects the dairy cow herd to grow to over 70,000 
animals by the end of 2018. consequently, the milk 
output is assumed to increase to approx. 500,000 to 
520,000 tons.
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12/31/2018 05/31/2018 12/31/2017

dairy cows >70,000 51,850 45,100

Milk output 
since the  
beginning of 
the year, in 
tons

500,000 – 
520,000 184,000 297,000

It is also planned to increase the processing capacity  
for raw milk in the current fiscal year. For this purpose,  
capacity for the production of cheese is to be added  
at the existing test facility in Voronezh, so that an addi-
tional 60 tons of raw milk can be processed per day. 
Moreover, the executive management is examining the
possibility to expand the processing capacity of the 
dairy acquired in the Kaluga region at the end of 2017 
from 180 tons to 300 tons. If these projects are imple-
mented, the Group’s total processing capacity will 
increase to approx. 885 tons of raw milk per day. Further 
takeovers of processing companies are also possible  
in the current fiscal year.
 

Based on current plans, the total area will also be 
expanded. As outlined under ”Subsequent events after 
the reporting date“, the Group’s total land amounts to 
approx. 360,000 hectares at the time of the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. If the current 
positive framework conditions remain in place, manage-
ment expects this land to grow further. This growth may 
arise from the acquisition of entire businesses or from 
the takeover of owned and leased farmland. As com-
pany acquisitions are more difficult to plan due to their 
structure than the construction of dairy cow facilities 
on the company’s own land, the forecast of this kind of 
growth is subject to considerable uncertainty.

At the time the present consolidated financial state-
ments are approved by the executive management, 
there are no signs that would put the achievement of 
the above-described developments in question. 

The harvested grain can be dried at the sites in our own facilities and stored in large silos.



  35Group management report

Grain harvest in Voronezh region

5.  OPPORTUNITy ANd RISK REPORT

Agriculture is a very dynamic and financially attractive 
sector in Russia. However, as in any business activity, 
there are certain opportunities and risks that are worthy 
of note. This also applies to the fact that the Ekosem-
Agrar Group operates in only one country, albeit a large 
one.

Risks are possible future events that may have an 
adverse impact on the future business performance 
of the Group. Opportunities represent developments 
that may have a positive effect on the Group’s results of 
operation, financial or net assets position. The primary 
task of the management is to weigh opportunities and 
risks against each other time and again and make the 
best decisions for the Group on this basis. To accom-
plish this objective, all important decisions affecting 
the Group are analyzed on a regular basis and possible 
consequences for the Group are identified. This active 
management is designed to minimize possible negative 
consequences for the company and to seize relevant 
opportunities to the extent possible.

5.1  Opportunity report

Dairy farming: Milk remains an imported product  
in Russia. Almost 7 million tons of the consumed milk 
equivalent were imported in 2017. This is one of the  
reasons why government subsidies for the Russian  
agricultural sector currently focus on dairy farming.  
The provision of low-interest loans and non-repayable 
subsidies for cow shed construction have created a  
very good environment for milk producing companies.  
The prices of raw milk – while moving in sync with  
world market prices – are much higher than in most 
other countries. As the country’s largest milk producer,  
the Group has a good negotiating position vis-à-vis  
its customers. The executive management therefore  
believes that there are good opportunities for the  
continued growth of the Ekosem-Agrar Group.

Crop farming: The Group sees good opportunities 
for sustainable growth in crop farming. The soil in the 
Chernozem region is among the most fertile soils in the 
world. At the same time, land can be acquired or leased 
at relatively low prices. We aim to achieve continuous 
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earnings growth through improved cultivation methods 
and selective breeding. This allows us to supply our 
dairy cow herd with our own fodder and to exploit sales 
potential for sought-after food crops such as soy, sun-
flowers and sugar beets.

Milk processing: Being Russia’s largest raw milk produ-
cer, we have the opportunity to become a leading ver-
tically integrated supplier of dairy products by succes-
sively expanding our own milk processing operations. 
The steps already taken increase the Group’s value 
added as we process a growing quantity of milk into our 
own products which are sold under our own and white 
label brands. The takeover of two dairies at the end 
of the fiscal year 2017 has taken us one step closer to 
achieving this goal. 

Seed production and breeding: In the long term, we 
see great potential especially in the breeding and licen-
sing of our own varieties. This way, we want to increase 
the profitability of this production area and defend our 
leading position in the Russian seeds market.

Suckler cow farming: While many Russian consumers 
traditionally prefer pork, demand for premium beef has 
been on the increase for some time, especially in Mos-
cow and other big cities. On our pastures, we primarily 
keep Angus cattle, which is a very sought-after race, and 
have thus laid the basis for participating in this trend of 
changing dietary habits.

Organic farming: Just like in Germany, a healthy and 
conscious diet is playing an increasingly important role 
also in Russia. When buying food, discerning consumers 
attach importance to organic production. In the crop 
farming sector, this means the absence of chemical  
pesticides and artificial fertilizers. In the livestock far-
ming sector, it requires animals to be kept in an environ-
mentally and animal friendly manner. The executive 
management expects growing demand for organic food 
in Russia.

5.2  Risk report

Liquidity risk: The dependence on the Group’s ability 
to generate sufficient liquid funds from its business 
operations to settle its liabilities is a material uncertain-
ty regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Going forward, the Group will continue to need 
large amounts of debt capital to finance its growth. 
This requires banks or other lenders to make available 
sufficient capital. The increasing recovery of the Russian 
economy and the declining inflation are having a positive 
effect on financing conditions. Moreover, Russian banks 
are showing a great willingness to finance projects in 
the agricultural sector. 

Based on the Group’s current plans and taking the rela-
ted uncertainty into account, management assumes, at 
the time of the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements for 2017, that the Group will be able to raise 
sufficient funds in the foreseeable future to continue its 
activity. This also includes the refinancing of bank loans 
due for repayment in 2018 to the extent that they exceed 
the funds from operations. This is to be seen against 
the background of the fact that the Group’s member 
companies use short-term loans granted by Russian 
banks. Most of these credit lines are regularly refinanced 
by the banks – notwithstanding the fact that the credit 
terms of certain short-term loans were not met in Russia 
last year.  The executive management assumes that 
this will also be the case in the future. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2017, there were open, unused credit lines of EUR 
135,231k (previous year: EUR 9,418k). Of this amount, 
EUR 132,889k related exclusively to the construction of 
certain tangible assets for animal husbandry and EUR 
2,342k to net current assets. 

Additional credit terms („covenants“) are a regular 
component of financing agreements with banks. These 
covenants may contain components that limit the 
company‘s flexibility with regard to new financing and 
thus further growth. 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group failed to meet 
certain restricting covenants for its long-term loans. 
Consequently, the Group did not have the unrestricted 
right, as of 31 December 2017, to postpone the settle-
ment of its obligations by at least 12 months after the 
closing date. In this context, also see chapter 2.3 c) of 
the management report. For further information, please 
refer to point 5. in the notes. Failure to comply with 
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become more expensive. On balance, we consider a 
weaker ruble to be more positive for the development of 
the company than a strong one. In the fiscal year 2018 to 
date, the ruble has been relatively stable. In view of the 
above-mentioned recovery in the Russian economy and 
a stable oil price, the executive management does not 
project major currency effects for the current fiscal year. 
For more information, refer to point 31.4 in the notes. 

Interest rates: Except for the euro-denominated bonds 
listed at the Stuttgart stock exchange, the Ekosem-Agrar 
Group is largely debt financed in Russia. Compared to 
Western European standards, high interest is paid on 
this debt capital. In the year to date, no interest rate 
hedges have been used, which means that the Group is 
exposed to an interest rate risk. The interest burden is 
reduced by the fact that the company uses government-
subsidized, low-interest loans. There is a risk that the 
supply of cheap loans is cut by the government and/
or that the amount of loans assigned to the company is 
reduced. In view of the economic recovery in the year to 
date, the executive management assumes that interest 
rates will tend to decline.

The extensive suckler cow farming is to be further expanded in the Novosibirsk and Orenburg regions.

covenants may also result in an extraordinary right of 
immediate termination for the financing bank, which 
could have further negative effects on the Group‘ s 
financial situation.

Should, contrary to management’s expectations, the 
supply of funds from operations and external borro-
wings not be possible at all or only at much poorer con-
ditions, this could result in the company’s insolvency.

Currency risk: The Russian ruble depreciated against 
the euro in the fiscal year 2017. While one euro was 
worth 63.811 rubles on 31 december 2016, it cost 68.687 
rubles on 31 december 2017. By contrast, the ruble 
appreciated slightly against the US dollar (31 dec. 2017: 
57.600 rubles; 31 dec. 2016: 60.656 rubles). Given that 
commodities such as milk and grain are traded in dol-
lars in the world market, a depreciation of the ruble ten-
ds to have a positive effect on our ruble-denominated 
selling prices, whereas an appreciation tends to have a 
negative effect. On the funding side, a depreciation of 
the ruble has a negative effect on our euro and dollar 
liabilities, as interest and principal payments in rubles 
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Strategy: The initiated vertical integration entails not 
only opportunities but also risks. While the Group has 
great experience in the production of raw milk, milk 
processing is a relatively new production area for the 
company. There is therefore a risk that the strategy that 
has been initiated cannot be implemented as planned. 
Risks that should be considered relate to the planned 
investments, the production process and the sale of 
the products. 

Weather conditions: As an agricultural company, we 
are naturally exposed to weather factors. Temperatures 
and precipitation have a great influence on the physical 
harvest and, hence, our financial income. We constant-
ly strive to optimize our processing methods in order 
to minimize the risk of harvest losses due to negative 
weather influences. The regional diversification of our 
cultivation areas across large parts of Russia reduces the 
risk of major crop failures. For the latest developments 
in the production area crop farming, please see  
chapter 3. “Subsequent events after the reporting date”.

Government programs: The Russian agricultural 
sector benefits from state support, e.g. for invest-
ments, interest payments and the production of certain 
goods. These agricultural subsidies depend not only 
on government policy but also on the local financial 
circumstances. Moreover, Russia’s agricultural sector 
is being protected by various measures such as tariff 
barriers and similar regulations. Irresprective of this, 
we constantly strive to produce our products not only 
to high quality standards but also at competitive costs. 
Should subsidies for current and future investments no 
longer be granted, this would greatly reduce the pace of 
growth of our company. We do not expect these frame-
work conditions to change any time soon, though.

Government measures may also include changes in 
the areas of currency control, taxation, collection of 
customs duties and other relevant legal regulations. 
The corresponding regulations in Russia are subject to 
regular changes as well as changing interpretation and 
interpretation. This could lead to financial or admini-
strative burdens on the company.

The fresh fodder is stored in large stacks for silage production.
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Diseases and epidemics: Although high standards  
are applied for animal protection and hygiene in the 
Group, and these are monitored continually, it cannot 
be precluded that locations may be affected by disease  
or epidemics. There is insurance to cover such cases  
and replace lost stock, but coverage does not extend  
to an interruption of operations. 

Actual use of land without legal agreement: Despite 
actual use, there are no contractual agreements for 
around 40,000 hectares (approx. 10% of the area of 
the group of companies). The background to this is an 
extensive process of privatization and registration of 
agricultural land after the collapse of the Soviet Union, 
which will take several months. The respective compa-
nies carry out this registration process. In the last more 
than 15 years there have been only a small number  
of serious difficulties.

Price variations: The prices of agricultural products 
and certain input factors are subject to comparatively 
large variations. The Group attempts to mitigate nega-
tive price trends by means of diversification within and 
between the production areas, although revenues  
are clearly dominated by the dairy farming operations.  
Currently, the Group applies no active hedging strate-
gies to protect against these variations.

On balance, the executive management believes  
that the Group is well positioned to continue growing  
profitably in an extremely attractive market, as the  
opportunities outweigh the existing, yet mostly  
manageable risks. 

Walldorf,
29 June 2018

Stefan Duerr
Managing Director
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Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

(Note)
12/31/2017

EUR'000
12/31/2016

EUR'000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 489,422 283,865

Intangible assets 16 11,102 1,218

Non-current financial assets 17 25,819 54,898

Biological assets 19 186,487 121,566

Deferred tax assets 13 415 159

Other non-current assets 18 10,780 6,630

724,025 468,336

Current assets

Inventories 20 99,813 93,295

Biological assets 19 4,310 4,345

Advances paid 4,171 3,035

Trade receivables 21 14,485 11,233

Income taxes prepayments 1,428 42

VAT and other non-income taxes receivable 29,781 14,278

Current financial assets 17 40,203 7,667

Other current assets 18 10,250 10,630

Cash and cash equivalents 22 14,251 2,207

218,692 146,732

942,717 615,068
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

(Note)
12/31/2017

EUR'000
12/31/2016

EUR'000

Equity

Share capital 23 80 80

Capital reserve 23 48,517 48,517

Revaluation reserve 128,911 102,341

Other retained earnings 16,494 16,463

Foreign currency translation reserve 23 (102,252) (87,835)

Retained earnings 34,533 30,713

Net profit attributable to parent company's shareholders 36,639 3,820

Equity attributable to parent company's shareholders 162,922 114,099

Non-controlling interests 2,127 1,660

165,049 115,759

Non-current liabilities

Non-current loans and borrowings 24 391,620 185,950

Obligations under financial leases 29 16,248 10,599

Government grants 25 69,104 6,199

Other non-current liabilities 259 277

Deferred tax liabilities 13 14,705 10,184

491,936 213,209

Current liabilities

Government grants 25 6,166 986

Current loans and borrowings 24 139,656 121,999

Non-current loans reclassified to current liabilities 24 22,974 91,364

Obligations under financial leases 29 8,494 6,445

Current trade and other accounts payable 41,373 43,170

Advances received 4,683 8,042

Income tax payable 687 -

Other current financial liabilities 27 36,094 2,586

Other current non-financial liabilities 27 25,605 11,508

285,732 286,100

942,717 615,068
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Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Note)

01/01/2017
12/31/2017

EUR'000

01/01/2016
12/31/2016

EUR'000

Revenue 7  174,557    118,690   

Change in balance of fall-ploughed land  2,574    1,491   

Change in balances of agricultural produce and biological assets  26,944    15,204   

Other operating income 8  12,716    13,499   

Gain on bargain purchase 3  29,263    306   

 246,054    149,190   

Costs of materials 9 (78,147) (53,691)

Personnel costs 10 (40,804) (28,686)

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 15, 16 (25,000) (18,077)

Other operating expenses 11 (28,300) (16,832)

(172,251)   (117,286)

Result from operating activities  73,803    31,904   

Financial income 12  4,876    4,563   

Financial expenses 12 (37,632) (32,039)

Profit before tax  41,047    4,428   

Income tax expense 13 (4,243) (466)

Net profit for the year  36,804    3,962   

Attributable to

Parent company’s shareholders  36,639    3,820   

Non-controlling interests  165    142   

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss    

Exchange differences in translating of foreign operations (14,312) 37,356   

Items that will be not classified subsequently to profit or loss

Revaluation of land and buildings  28,321    23,222   

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income (1,523) (1,036)

 12,486    59,542   

Attributable to

Parent company’s shareholders  12,184    59,094   

Non-controlling interests  302    448   

Comprehensive income for the reporting period  49,290    63,504   

Attributable to

Parent company’s shareholders 48,823  62,914   

Non-controlling interests 467  590   
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Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Note)

01/01/2017
12/31/2017

EUR'000

01/01/2016
12/31/2016

EUR'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year  36,804    3,962   
Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses 15, 16  25,000    18,077   

Gain on bargain purchase 3 (29,263) (306)
Net loss on disposal and revaluation of property, plant and equipment  1,255    2,070   

Change in balances of fall-ploughed land as well as of agricultural  
produce and biological assets (29,518) (16,695)
Income taxes recognized in profit or loss 13  4,243    466   
Financial income 12 (4,876) (4,563)
Financial expenses 12  37,632    32,039   

 41,277    35,050   
Changes in working capital
Change in inventories (876) (1,943)
Change in trade receivables (1,734) (5,716)
Change in advances paid (831) (1,089)
Change in other receivables and assets (10,463) (9,755)

Change in trade payables (9,782) (4,077)

Change in other liabilities  12,330    2,319   
Cash inflow from operating activities  29,921    14,789   
Income taxes paid (5,632) (181)
Interest paid (48,870) (36,493)
Bank commissions for operating activities paid 11 (461) (332)
Government grants for financing activities 12  14,759    9,102   
Net cash outflow from operating activities (10,283) (13,115)
Cash flows from investment activities
Proceeds from the diposal of property, plant and equipment  152    110   
Loans issued (4,110) (7,145)
Interest received  1,662    2,343   
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 3 (27,940) (135)
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (131,686) (28,616)
Government grants for property, plant and equipment  31,716    345   
Payments to acquire non-current biological assets (28,294) (6,652)
Net outflow of cash from investment activities (158,500) (39,750)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 31.9  416,120    180,366   
Repayment of borrowings 31.9 (220,644) (119,869)
Bank commissions for financing activities paid 12 (2,388) (2,081)
Payment of finance lease liabilties 31.9 (12,269) (7,780)
Net inflow of cash from financing activities  180,819    50,636   
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash equivalents   12,036      (2,229)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  2,207    4,440   
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balances of  
cash held in foreign currencies 8 (4)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period  14,251    2,207   
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Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

EUR'000  Share  
capital

Capital  
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Other  
retained  
earnings

Foreign  
currency  

translation 
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Net profit  
attributable to 

parent company's 
shareholders

Equity attributable  
to parent company's  

shareholders

Non-controlling 
interests

Total

As of 31 December 2015  80    48,517    81,667    15,171   (124,963)  27,713    3,000    51,185    1,070    52,255   

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,820    3,820    142    3,962   

Other comprehensive income  -  -  20,674    1,292    37,128    -  -  59,094    448    59,542   

Total comprehensive income  -  -  20,674    1,292    37,128    -  3,820    62,914    590    63,504   

Allocation of profit or loss  -  -  -  -  -  3,000   (3,000)  -  -  - 

As of 31 December 2016  80    48,517    102,341    16,463   (87,835)  30,713    3,820    114,099    1,660    115,759   

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  -  36,639    36,639    165    36,804   

Other comprehensive income  -  -  26,570    31   (14,417)  -  -  12,184    302    12,486   

Total comprehensive income  -  -  26,570    31   (14,417)  -  36,639    48,823    467    49,290   

Allocation of profit or loss  -  -  -  -  -  3,820   (3,820)  -  -  - 

As of 31 December 2017  80    48,517    128,911    16,494   (102,252)  34,533    36,639    162,922    2,127    165,049   
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EUR'000  Share  
capital

Capital  
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve

Other  
retained  
earnings

Foreign  
currency  

translation 
reserve

Retained  
earnings

Net profit  
attributable to 

parent company's 
shareholders

Equity attributable  
to parent company's  

shareholders

Non-controlling 
interests

Total

As of 31 December 2015  80    48,517    81,667    15,171   (124,963)  27,713    3,000    51,185    1,070    52,255   

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,820    3,820    142    3,962   

Other comprehensive income  -  -  20,674    1,292    37,128    -  -  59,094    448    59,542   

Total comprehensive income  -  -  20,674    1,292    37,128    -  3,820    62,914    590    63,504   

Allocation of profit or loss  -  -  -  -  -  3,000   (3,000)  -  -  - 

As of 31 December 2016  80    48,517    102,341    16,463   (87,835)  30,713    3,820    114,099    1,660    115,759   

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  -  36,639    36,639    165    36,804   

Other comprehensive income  -  -  26,570    31   (14,417)  -  -  12,184    302    12,486   

Total comprehensive income  -  -  26,570    31   (14,417)  -  36,639    48,823    467    49,290   

Allocation of profit or loss  -  -  -  -  -  3,820   (3,820)  -  -  - 

As of 31 December 2017  80    48,517    128,911    16,494   (102,252)  34,533    36,639    162,922    2,127    165,049   
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Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31 DECEMBER 2017
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1.  GENERAL INFORMATION 
Ekosem-Agrar GmbH (also referred to below as  
“the Company” or “Parent Company”) is obliged to  
issue consolidated financial statements. On the basis of  
regulations put forth by Sec. 315a HGB [“Handelsgesetz-
buch”: German Commercial Code], the Company volun-
tarily issues consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards  
as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs). The Parent 
Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as the 
“Group” below.

The Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled in the  
Federal Republic of Germany and the Russian Federa-
tion. The Parent Company has its main business offices  
at Johann-Jakob-Astor-Str. 49, 69190 Walldorf, Germany.

Ekosem-Agrar GmbH was founded by a shareholder 
resolution on 12 September 2000 and officially entered in 
the Mannheim Commercial Register on 13 February 2001 
under HRB no. 351797. 

The main activities of the Group include the production 
of and trade in animal and plant agricultural products; 
furthermore the consulting with regards to as well as 
planning and implementation of projects in the agricul-
tural sector.

The Russian companies of the Group issue their local 
financial statements in compliance with Russian Accoun-
ting Standards (RAS). The German entities of the Group 
issue their local financial statements in compliance with 
German GAAP (German Commercial Code/HGB). The 
financial statements of the individual companies were 
adjusted for the differences between local GAAP and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros (EUR), which is also the Parent Company’s func-
tional currency. The functional currency of the Group 
entities is the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which the entities operate – Russian rubles (RUB) 
or euros (EUR).

Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2.  SUBSIDIARIES 
 
These consolidated financial statements contain the assets, liabilities and operating results of the Parent Company  
and its subsidiaries listed below: 

Name Domicile Type of  
company

Effective equity 
interest and voting 

rights as of  
31 December 2017 

(in %)

Effective equity 
interest and voting 

rights as of  
31 December 2016 

(in   %)

EKOLAND GmbH Walldorf, Germany Holding 100.0 100.0

Black Soil Agro GmbH Walldorf, Germany Holding 100.0 100.0

Ekosem Beratung GmbH Berlin, Germany Consulting 100.0 100.0

Ekosem Agrarprojekte GmbH Berlin, Germany Consulting 100.0 100.0

ООО “EkoNiva-APK Holding” Voronezh, Russia Holding 99.0 99.0

OOO “EkoNiva-APK Chernozemye” Voronezh, Russia Holding 99.0 99.0

OOO “Agrofirma Mezhdurechye” Tyumen, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

OOO “AgriAgri” Kursk, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

ООО “Kaluzhskaya Niva” Kaluga, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

OOO “Savinskaya Niva” Kaluga, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

ООО “Severnaya Niva” Orenburg, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

OOO “Sibirskaya Niva” Novosibirsk, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

ООО “EkoNiva-Semena” Voronezh, Russia Trading 99.0 99.0

ООО “Zaschitnoe” Kursk, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

ООО “EkoNivaAgro” Voronezh, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

OOO “Ratnoe” Kursk, Russia Agriculture 99.0 99.0

OOO “EkoNiva-Media” Kursk, Russia Other - 99.0

OOO “Zolotaya zemlya Sibiri” Novosibirsk, Russia Land owner 99.0 99.0

OOO “Zemlya Salaira” Novosibirsk, Russia Land owner 99.0 -

OOO“ Akademia Molochnnyh nauk” Voronezh, Russia Dairy processing 99.0 99.0

OOO “Sibirskaya Akademia
Molochnyh nauk” Novosibirsk, Russia Dairy processing 99.0 99.0

OOO “EkoNiva Moloko Voronezh” Voronezh, Russia Dairy processing 99.0 -

OOO “NivaStroy” Kaluga, Russia Construction project 
management 99.0 99.0

OOO “AgroFinance” Voronezh, Russia Other 99.0 99.0

OOO “EkoNiva-Farm” Tula, Russia Other 99.0 99.0

OOO “OkaAgro” Ryazan, Russia Other 99.0 -

OOO “Oka Moloko” Ryazan, Russia Agriculture 99.0 -

OAO “MosMedynagroprom” Kaluga, Russia Agriculture,  
dairy processing 98.9 -

OOO “APK Rusich” Voronezh, Russia Agriculture 99.0 -

OOO “Razdolnoe Angus” Voronezh, Russia Agriculture 99.0 -

OOO “NivaProject” Kursk, Russia Other 75.0 75.0
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3.  BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 1 November 2017, OOO EkoNiva-APK Holding esta-
blished a new company OOO EkoNiva Moloko Voronezh 
that acquired from a third party on 15 November 2017 
the property, plant and equipment of Anna milk proces-
sing factory. The consideration transferred amounted to 
RUB 110mln (approx. EUR 1,582k) and was paid in cash in 
November 2017. The Group concluded that this acquisi-
tion represents an acquisition of a business. This entity 
is located in Voronezh region and operates as a milk 
processing plant. 

On 30 November 2017, OOO EkoNiva-APK Holding  
acquired 99.9% of the shares in OAO MosMedynagroprom 
from Kaluga region government. The consideration trans-
ferred amounted to RUB 1,553mln (approx. EUR 22,335k) 
and was paid in cash in October-November 2017. This 
entity is located in Kaluga region and operates in agricul-
tural business as well as a milk processing plant.

On 1 December 2017, OOO EkoNiva-APK Chernozemye  
acquired 100% ownership interest in OOO APK Rusich 
from individuals. The consideration transferred amounted 
to RUB 290mln (approx. EUR 4,168k) and was paid in  

cash in November 2017. Additionally, on 1 December 
2017 OOO EkoNiva-APK Chernozemye acquired 100% 
ownership interest in OOO Razdolnoe-Angus from an 
individual. The consideration transferred amounted to  
RUB 8.5mln (approx. EUR 123k) and was paid in cash  
in November 2017. The entities are located in Voronezh 
region and operate in agricultural business. The Group 
determined that these two business combinations  
represent linked transactions as they were negotiated 
together.

On 18 December 2017, OOO EkoNiva-APK Holding 
acquired 100% ownership interest in OOO OkaAgro and 
OOO Oka Moloko from an individual. The consideration 
transferred amounted to RUB 2,127mln (approx. EUR 
30,888k)  and was paid in cash in January-April 2018. The 
related payable of EUR 30,888k was included into other 
current financial liabilities in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at 31 December 2017 (Note 27). 
The entities are located in Ryazan region and operate in 
agricultural business. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the entities as at the dates of their acquisition were as 
follows: 

MosMedynagroprom
EUR '000

OkaAgro and OKA 
Moloko

EUR '000
Anna Dairy Plant

EUR '000

APK - Rusich and 
Razdolnoe Angus

EUR '000

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment  27,195    47,196    7,020    2,516   

Intangible assets  88    6,687    -  579   

Inventories  2,088    3,010    159    662   

Biological assets  5,902    13,163    -  465   

Trade receivables  1,509    4,067    -  145   

Other short-term assets  39    -  -  - 

Other non-current assets  4    -  -  - 

Non-current financial assets  -  394    -  - 

Current financial assets  30    64    -  5   

Cash and cash equivalents  201    66    -  1   

 37,056    74,647    7,179    4,373   
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The gain on a bargain purchase of OAO MosMedynagro-
prom, OOO OkaAgro/Oka Moloko and Anna dairy plant 
was credited directly to profit or loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The bargain gain resulted from 
better positions in negotiations of the acquirer as the 
Group is a large market player in the regions of opera-
tions of the related entities.

The goodwill resulting from the acquisition of APK Rusich 
and Razdolnoe Angus of EUR 2,666k comprises the value 
of expected synergies arising from the acquisition of these 
entities. The goodwill is allocated entirely to the Voronezh 
segment. The goodwill is not expected to be deductible 
for income tax purposes. 

At the date of acquisition fair values of the trade recei-
vables of OAO MosMedynagroprom, OOO OkaAgro/Oka 
Moloko and OOO APK-Rusich/Razdolnoe-Angus amounted 
to EUR 1,509k, EUR 4,067k and EUR 145k, respectively, 
and were equal to the net amount of trade receivables, 
after deduction of impairment of EUR 149k, EUR 80k and 
zero respectively.  

For the year ended 31 December 2017, since the date of 
acquisition, OAO MosMedynagroprom, OOO APK-Rusich/
OOO Razdolnoe-Angus and OOO EkoNiva Moloko Voro-
nezh contributed EUR 2,288k, EUR 271k and EUR 133k of 
revenue, respectively, and net profit (or loss) of EUR 173k, 
EUR (214)k and EUR (731)k, respectively. No revenue  
and financial results of OOO OkaAgro/OOO Oka Moloko 
are included into the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income as acquisition took place at the end of 
December 2017.

If the acquisitions had taken place as of 1 January 2017, 
OOO OkaAgro/OOO Oka Moloko, OAO MosMedynagro-
prom, OOO APK-Rusich/OOO Razdolnoe-Angus would 
have made a contribution to revenue of EUR 23,926k,  
EUR 19,101k and EUR 2,389k and a contribution to profit 
of EUR 15k, EUR (2,047)k and EUR (1,180)k, respectively. 

No acquisition costs were incurred in conjunction with 
these transactions.

MosMedynagro- 
prom

EUR '000

OkaAgro and  
OKA Moloko

EUR '000
Anna Dairy Plant

EUR '000

APK - Rusich and 
Razdolnoe Angus

EUR '000

LIABILITIES

Non-current loans and borrowings  -  7.218    -  220   

Current loans and borrowings  -  13.832    -  1.522   

   thereof with companies of the Group  -  369    -  268   

Obligations under financial leases  -  5.141    -  2   

Current trade and other accounts payable  1.328    1.076    -  502   

   thereof with companies of the Group  370    16    -  6   

Other current non-financial liabilities  803    4.382    1.033    502   

 2.131    31.649    1.033    2.748   

Total identifiable net assets at fair value  34.925    42.997    6.146    1.625   

Goodwill / (Bargain gain) (12.590) (12.109) (4.564)  2.666   

Purchase consideration transferred / Cash paid (22.335) (30.888) (1.582) (4.291)

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary  201    66    -  1   

Net cash inflow/outflow (22.134) (30.822) (1.582) (4.290)
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4.  KEY ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND  
     VALUATION METHODS

4.1.  Declaration of compliance
The financial statements of the Company and its subsi-
diaries have been prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union (IFRSs). The IFRSs comprise the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and Inter-
national Accounting Standards (IASs), the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpre-
tations Committee (IFRICs) and the Standing Interpreta-
tions Committee (SICs). The Group’s financial reporting is 
based on the IFRSs effective for fiscal year beginning on  
1 January 2017.

These consolidated financial statements are prepared  
in accordance with Sec. 315a HGB. Together with Regula-
tion (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and 
the Council of 19 July 2002 on the application of IFRSs, 
it forms the legal basis for group financial reporting in 
accordance with international standards in Germany.

4.2.  Basis for preparation of consolidated  
         financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been  
prepared on the basis of historical costs, except for the 
measurement of land and buildings as well as biological 
assets which were measured at fair value and self-pro- 
duced agricultural produce which were measured at  
net realizable value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(000), except when otherwise indicated. 

The consolidated financial statements provide compa-
rative information in respect of the previous period.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
company assumes that business activities will continue. 

4.3.  Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017, in which the Parent 
Company directly or indirectly holds the majority of the 
voting rights, or otherwise has power to exercise control 
over their operations. 

The reporting date of the Parent Company and all entities 
included in the financial statements is 31 December 2017. 
The financial statements of the consolidated entities are 
prepared using consistent accounting policies specified by 
Ekosem-Agrar GmbH.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, 
the Group has: 

•  Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give 
it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee) 

•  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee 

•  The ability to use its power over the investee to 
affect its returns 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting 
rights result in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or 
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all rele-
vant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 
power over an investee, including: 

•  The contractual arrangement with the other vote 
holders of the investee 

•  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements  

•  The Groups voting rights and potential voting rights 
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The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 
of during the year are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements from the date the Group gains control until 
the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehen-
sive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling inte-
rests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accoun-
ting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecog-
nizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, 
non-controlling interest and other components of equity 
while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or 
loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value. 

4.4. Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Business combination and goodwill
In the case of business combinations after 1 January 2010, 
consolidation is performed using the acquisition method 
in accordance with IFRS 3 (revised 2008). The cost of an 
acquisition is thus measured as the aggregate of the  
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition-date  
fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest  
in the acquiree. For each business combination, the  
acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the  
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-

related costs are recognized as expenses. Any contingent 
consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is reco-
gnized at fair value at the acquisition date. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts  
by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any 
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acqui-
sition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is 
recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 
acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisi-
tion date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset 
or liability that is a financial instrument and within the 
scope of IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in 
fair value recognized either in profit or loss or as a change 
to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the 
scope of IAS 39, it is measured in accordance with the  
appropriate IFRS. Contingent consideration that is classi-
fied as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settle-
ment is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognized for non-controlling interests, and any 
previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the 
net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate conside-
ration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has 
correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of 
the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used 
to measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisi-
tion date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in 
profit or loss.
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business com-
bination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each 
of the Group’s cash-generating units ("CGU") that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective  
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree  
are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating 
unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed 
of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill dis-
posed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion 
of the cash-generating unit retained. 

b) Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents its assets and liabilities in the state-
ment of financial position based on a current/non-current 
classification. An asset is current when it is expected to be 
realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal 
operating cycle, is held primarily for the purpose of tra-
ding, is expected to be realized within twelve months after 
the reporting period or when it relates to cash and cash 
equivalents unless the asset is restricted from being ex-
changed or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when it is expected to be settled in 
normal operating cycle, is held primarily for the purpose 
of trading, is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period or there is no unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
This also applies in the event of a breach of the covenants 
during the year if prior to the reporting date the lender 
forgoes his/her right to demand repayment in the 12 
months following the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-
current assets and liabilities. 

c) Fair value measurement
The Group measures biological assets at fair value at ini-
tial recognition and at each reporting date, self-produced 
feedstuffs and other agricultural produce at fair value at 
the date of harvest. Also buildings and land plots within 
property, plant and equipment are regularly evaluated 
at fair value. Total revaluation of such groups takes place 
once every three years or more often if there is evidence 
that the carrying values of buildings and land plots do  
not approximate their fair values at the reporting date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an  
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac-
tion between market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value measurement is based on the pre-
sumption that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer 
a liability takes place either in the principal market for the 
asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes 
into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant  
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appro- 
priate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use  
of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use  
of unobservable inputs. 
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest 
 level input that is significant to the fair value measure-   
 ment is directly or indirectly observable

• Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measure-
ment is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the finan-
cial statements on a recurring basis, the Group deter-
mines whether transfers have occurred between Levels 
in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period. 

External appraisers are involved for valuation of buildings 
and land plots. Selection criteria include market know-
ledge, reputation, independence and whether professio-
nal standards are maintained. 

d) Foreign currency translation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
presented in euros which is also the Parent Company’s 
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines 
its own functional currency that is prevailing in economic 
environment in which the company operates and items 
included in the financial statement of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. 

• Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded  
by the Group entities at their respective functional 
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first  
qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency 
spot rate of exchange at the reporting date. Differences 
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are 
recognized in profit or loss.  

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the 
date when the fair value is determined. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as 
at the dates of the initial transactions.

• Group companies

In these consolidated financial statements, assets and 
liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros 
(EUR) at the exchange rate valid on the reporting date. 
Income and expenses are translated at the average 
rate of the reporting period. If exchange rates fluctuate 
significantly, the use of the average rate for a period is 
inappropriate. In this case income and expenses shall be 
translated at exchange rates at the dates of the transac-
tions. The translation differences arising on translation for 
consolidation are recognized in other comprehensive in-
come. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component 
of other comprehensive income relating to the particular 
foreign operation is recognized under profit and loss. 

On the partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a 
foreign operation, the entity shall re-attribute the propor-
tionate share of the cumulative amount of the translation 
differences recognized in other comprehensive income to 
the non-controlling interests in that foreign operations. 

Where an exchange difference arises on an intragroup 
balance that, in substance, forms part of an entity's net 
investment in a foreign operation, then the exchange 
difference is not to be recognized in profit or loss in the 
consolidated financial statements, but is recognized in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a  
separate component of equity until the disposal of the  
foreign operation.
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The essential exchange rates for the presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Currency  RUB/EUR Closing 
rate

Average rate

Year ended  
31 December 2016 - 74.231

Year ended  
31 December 2017 -   65.9014

Three months ended  
31 March 2016 -   82.3373

Three months ended  
30 June 2016 -   74.3966

Three months ended  
30 September 2016 - 72.1531

Three months ended  
31 December 2016 - 68.127

At 31 December 2016 63.8111 -

Three months ended  
31 March 2017 - 62.6474

Three months ended  
30 June 2017 - 62.7892

Three months ended  
30 September 2017 - 69.286

Three months ended  
31 December 2017 - 68.7783

At 31 December 2017 68.8668 -   

e) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the 
payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable, taking 
into account contractually defined terms of payment and 
excluding taxes or duty.

The Group has concluded that it is the principal in all of 
its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in 
all the revenue arrangements has pricing latitude and is 
also exposed to inventory and credit risks. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must 
also be met before revenue is recognized. 

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods (agricultural produce 
such as milk, meat, crop, etc., as well as consumer dairy 
products) is recognized when the following conditions 
have been satisfied:

•  the Group has transferred to the buyer the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 

•  the Group  retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with  
ownership, nor  effective control over the goods sold;

•  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•  it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with  the transaction will flow to the Group;

•  costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services recognized only when 
all the following conditions are satisfied:

•  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•  it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group;

•  the stage of completion of the transaction at the end 
of the reporting period can be measured reliably;

•  the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost 
and interest bearing financial assets classified as available 
for sale, interest income or expense is recorded using 
the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or 
a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying 
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amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income 
is included in financial income in the statement of com-
prehensive income.

f) Government grants
Government grants are recognized where there is rea-
sonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
attached conditions will be complied with. 

Government grants shall be recognized as income on 
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the 
grants are intended to compensate.  

Government grants related to an asset shall be reco-
gnized as deferred income and released to income in 
equal amounts over the expected useful life of the  
related asset. 

Government grants related to biological assets that are 
recognized at fair value are recognized as income in the 
period when the Group receives the grants.   

If a government grant related to biological assets 
measured at its fair value less costs to sell is conditional, 
including when a government grant requires the Group  
to engage in specified agricultural activity, the Group shall 
recognize the government grant in profit and loss when, 
and only when, the conditions attaching to the govern-
ment grant are met.  

The Group receives cash government grants as a compen-
sation for its interest expenses and present them within 
financial expenses, where the related interest expenses 
are presented. 

Starting from 2017, the Group receives loans from certain 
Russian banks at a below market rate of interest, where 
the Russian government provides grants to the banks to 
compensate for the difference between the market rates 
and the contract rates of interest. The Group recognizes 
and measures the loans that have a below-market rate 
of interest in accordance with IAS 39 with the difference 
between the initial carrying value of the loan (its fair 
value) and the proceeds received is treated as a govern-

ment grant. The Group concluded that the grants rela-
ting to lower than interest rate loans related to interest,  
therefore, the Group amortizes these grants over the 
related loan terms in order to match with the related 
interest expenses. 

g) Taxes

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current  
period are measured at the amount expected to be reco-
vered from or paid to taxation authorities. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date 
in the countries in which the Group operates and gene-
rates taxable income. 

Taxable profit is distinguishable from consolidated net 
profit in the statement of comprehensive income for the 
Group as the consolidated net profit includes expenses 
and profits which are taxable or tax-deductible in later  
years or not at all. 

For group entities primarily involved in agricultural pro-
duction in Russia an income tax rate of 0% applies to the 
income of these companies, as this income is earned al-
most entirely through agricultural activities. The income  
of the Group not earned through agricultural activities is 
subject to income tax at the general rate of 20%. This in-
cludes income from the sale of agricultural land.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all temporary 
differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a trans-
action that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss;
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•  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible  
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible tem-
porary differences and the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

•  when the deferred tax asset relating to the deducible 
temporary difference arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a busi-
ness combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss;

•  in respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are 
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foresee-
able future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed  
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that  
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit  
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets  
are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized 
to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to  
be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year in which 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substan-
tively enacted at the reporting date. 

In general, this would entail a tax rate of 0% for the 
agricultural activities, making the recognition of deferred 
taxes for the related activities unnecessary. However, due 
to the use of the revaluation method set out under IAS 16 
for land and buildings, a sales scenario is assumed in the 
calculation of deferred taxes. As tax law provides for the 
normal tax rate of 20% for this scenario, deferred taxes 
are recognized for the temporary differences relating to 
land and buildings used in agricultural activities.

Deferred taxes relating to items recognized outside profit 
or loss are recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset 
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 

Value added tax
Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount  
of value added tax (VAT), except:

•  when VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or 
services is not recoverable from the tax authority,  
in which case VAT is recognized as a part of the  
cost of acquisition of the asset or as a part of the  
expense item, as applicable

•  when receivables and payables are stated with the 
amount of VAT included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authorities is included as a part of recei- 
vables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

h) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (except land and build-
ings) are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation 
and/or accumulated impairment losses, if any. Such 
cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, 
plant and equipment and borrowing costs for long-term 
construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. 
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When significant parts of property, plant and equipment 
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group  
recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific 
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, 
when a major inspection is performed, its cost is reco-
gnized in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment 
as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized  
in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accu-
mulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses 
recognized after the date of revaluation if any. Valuations 
are performed frequently to ensure that the fair value 
of a revaluated asset does not differ materially from its 
carrying amount. 

Any revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehen-
sive income and hence is credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve in equity except to the extent that it reverses  
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously  
recognized in profit or loss, in which case the increase  
is recognized in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is  
recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that  
it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized 
in the asset revaluation reserve. 

The Group applies the straight-line method of deprecia-
tion to its property, plant and equipment. Depreciation  
on revalued buildings is recognized in profit or loss.  
Land is not depreciated. 

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the 
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained 
earnings. 

For determining the depreciation of the following useful 
life ranges are used:

Buildings     5 - 30 years
Agricultural machines   3 - 15 years
Transport                                                              3 - 15 years
Machinery and equipment                               3 - 15 years
Other property, plant and equipment 2 - 21 years
Bearer plants                                                          4 years 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any  
significant part initially recognized is derecognized upon  
disposal or when no economic benefits are expected  
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on dere-
cognition of the asset is included in the statement of 
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized. 

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depre-
ciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed  
at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively,  
if appropriate.

i) Leases
The determination of whether an agreement is, or  
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the  
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfillment  
of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to  
use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified 
in an arrangement. 

Group as a lessee
Finance leases that transfer to the Group substantially 
all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased item are capitalized at the commencement of the 
lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, 
at the present value of minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

An asset under financial leases is depreciated over the 
useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the 
end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the 
lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income on  
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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j) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of 
the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and 
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. 

k) Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured upon 
initial recognition at cost. The costs of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination are their fair value as 
at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either 
finite or indefinite. The depreciation of the cropping 
rights is carried out using the contractually guaranteed 
useful life of the particular cultivated area under the  
related operating lease agreement. The amortization 
periods are between 10 and 50 years.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over 
the useful economic lives and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible  
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and  
the amortization method for an intangible asset with  
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end  
of each reporting period. The amortization expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the asset is derecognized. 

l) Financial instruments

• Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial 
assets. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition on the basis of their 
nature and purpose. 

All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value 
plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial 
assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are 
recognized on the trade date. 

The Group’s financial assets include cash and short-term 
deposits, loans and receivables. 

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement such finan-
cial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method less impairment. 
The loss arising from impairment is recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income in finance costs for 
loans and in other operating expenses for receivables. 

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to  
receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as  
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a result of one or more events that have occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss 
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estima-
ted future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence 
of impairment may include indications that the debtors 
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal 
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy 
or other financial reorganization and when observable 
data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

• Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as other financial 
liabilities. The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair  
value plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, directly  
attributable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, loans and borrowings. 

Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition interest-bearing loans and bor-
rowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and 
losses are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the liabilities are derecognized as well as 
through the EIR amortization process. The EIR amorti-
zation is included in finance costs in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modi-
fied, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

• Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 
of financial position if, and only if:

 •  there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognized amount and

 •  there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the assets and settle the liabilities  
simultaneously 

• Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded  
in active markets at each reporting date is determined  
by reference to quoted prices or dealer price quotations  
(bid price for long positions and ask price for short 
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 
For financial instruments not traded in active markets, 
the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques.

m) Biological assets
Animals and plants controlled by the Group and that pro-
duce economic benefits are recognized as biological assets 
in accordance with IAS 41, Agriculture. The Group classifies 
biological assets as productive and consumable assets:

1) productive (non-current):
•  plow and productive cattle (mainly the dairy cattle 

and young female cattle);

2) consumable (current):
•  sowing and the cultivation of crops;
•  livestock for breeding and meat (male cattle for sale)

Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs 
to sale. Productive biological assets are recognized as a 
separate item under non-current assets in the statement 
of financial position, as they generate economic benefits 
over more than just a single reporting period.  
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Consumable biological assets are recognized in the current 
asset category of the statement of financial position.

As of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016  
the Group applied the discounted cash flow method  
to identify the fair value of productive biological assets 
(cows and heifers). For more details, please, refer to  
Note 14.

Agricultural produce harvested from biological assets  
is recognized at fair value less costs to sell. Plantings  
of agricultural crops are recognized as biological assets  
at the time of sowing. Expenses for the cultivation of 
undeveloped land (fall-ploughed land and fallow land)  
are recognized as work in progress in the amount of  
the costs incurred.

For calculation of fair value of unfinished production in 
crop growing, planned data with a division on cost items 
per each crop are counted till the moment they are ready 
to be harvested: seeds, fertilizers, crop protecting agents, 
salary and other costs. Information about percentage of 
readiness, unharvested area per each crop, plan yield and 
expected selling prices is accumulated at the reporting 
date. Future costs, that are expected to be incurred by 
the harvest, are calculated at the reporting date (calcula-
tion is made based on both direct and indirect costs).  
Fair value is based on actual costs with margin taken into 
account adjusted by the percentage of readiness.  

Plants which do not bring any economic benefit to the 
Group are not recognized as biological assets.

n) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realiz-
able value (all inventories except agricultural produce)  
or at net realizable value (agricultural produce including  
own produced feed staff).

The cost of inventories comprise all costs of purchase, 
production costs, costs of conversion and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present  
location and condition.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less estimated costs of com-
pletion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 
sale. 

The costs of inventories are assigned by using the 
weighted average cost formula. 

The costs of inventories may not be recoverable if those 
inventories are damaged, if they become wholly or par-
tially obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined. The 
amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognized as an 
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 

The Group distinguishes inventories as follows:

•  finished goods
•  work in progress
•  raw materials 
•  goods for resale

Finished goods are essentially self-produced agricultural 
products intended for sale (mainly crops on the stock); 
self-produced feedstuff is classified in the category of raw 
materials.

Work in progress primarily contains expenses arising 
during a reporting period in order to prepare farmland for 
sowing in later reporting periods or fall-ploughed land.

• Own produced feedstuffs

These are valued at fair value at the date of harvest in 
accordance with IAS 41, Agriculture, and at net realizable 
value in accordance with IAS 2.3a, Inventories. Changes in 
value are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Valuation is based on the specific protein content of 
haylage as well as on the specific starch content of corn 
silage based on laboratory tests carried out on a sample 
basis of the feedstuffs in stock. In the case of haylage, the 
protein content calculated is converted to the substitute 
soy meal, on which basis it is valued at the observed  
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market price of soy meal at the reporting date. Corn 
silage is valued in the same way based on the determined 
starch content and the price for corn. 

o) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recover-
able amount, the asset is considered impaired and  
is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent 
market transactions are taken into account, if available. 
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corro-
borated by valuation multipliers, or other available fair  
value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed 
budgets and forecast calculations. These budget and fore-
cast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For 
longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and 
applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income in expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset, except for a pro-
perty previously revaluated and the revaluation was taken 
to other comprehensive income. In this case, the impair-
ment is also recognized in other comprehensive income 
up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at 
each reporting date whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable 
amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is re-
versed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognized. The reversal is 
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
neither its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carry- 
ing amount that would have been determined, net of  
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized  
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized  
in the statement of comprehensive income unless  
the asset is carried at the revalued amount, in which  
case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

p) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and highly 
liquid short-term deposits with an original maturity of 
three months or less at inception.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part  
of the Group’s cash management. 

q) Equity capital
Equity capital is recognized as the residual claim of share-
holders to net assets remaining after the deduction of 
debts. Expenses involved in the increase of equity capital 
are not presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income, but recognized directly as a reduction of equity 
capital. 

r) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources em-
bodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some 
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or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement 
is recognized as a separate asset, but only when the reim-
bursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income net of any reimbursement.
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obliga-
tion at the end of the reporting period. 

5.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS,  
    ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period. The actual values may 
deviate from the estimations. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjust-
ment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next fiscal year, are described below. The 
Group based its assumptions and estimates on parame-
ters available when the consolidated financial statements 
were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions 
about future developments may change due to the market 
changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of 
the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 
when they occur. 

Going concern
These consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared on a going concern basis that envisages the reali-
zation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal 
course of business. At 31 December 2017 (and 2016) the 
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets. For 
the years ended 31 December 2017 (and 2016) the Group 
had net outflows from operating activities in the amount 
of EUR 10,283k (2016: EUR 13,115k), which were mainly 
driven by an increase in interest paid and VAT receivables 
relating to capital constructions, as well as to the income 

tax payments in 2017. Further, for the years ended  
31 December 2017 (and 2016) the Group’s results were 
attributed to a significant extend to non-cash revaluation 
in balances of fall-ploughed land and increase in fair  
value of agricultural produce and biological assets, as  
well as to the gain on bargain purchase in 2017 (Note 3). 
The Group’s results of operations are significantly affected 
by the still significant growth of the Group’s livestock 
and the related feedstuff at stock. The number of cows 
has increased and so has the volume of milk produced. 
Therefore, there is a growing demand for feedstuff as well 
as a growing value of the herd as well as the necessity 
to enlarge the related assets. This all leads to the use of 
cash, which results in  cash-outflows from operations –  
a situation that the management of the Group is aware  
of and deals with.

Further, at 31 December 2017 the Group’s current loans 
and borrowings of EUR 140m (prior year: EUR 122m) 
primarily comprise Russian bank loans, which the Group 
plans to refinance. The Group is in constant contact 
with the financing banks to ensure a smooth process of 
refinancing of those short-term loans. From previous 
experience it can be said that loans that have to be paid 
back to a bank can be re-drawn shortly thereafter.

At 31 December 2017, the Group breached certain re-
strictive covenants related to its non-current loans (Note 
24). Therefore, at 31 December 2017 the Group didn’t 
have an unconditional right to defer their settlement for 
at least twelve months after the reporting date. Under 
IAS 1, at 31 December 2017 the respective non-current 
loans amounted to EUR 23m and were presented within 
current liabilities. These loans were classified on demand. 

At 31 December 2016 the Group also breached certain re-
strictive covenants related to its non-current and current 
loans (Note 24). At 31 December 2016 the Group didn’t 
have an unconditional right to defer their settlement for 
at least twelve months after the reporting date and the 
respective non-current loans amounted to EUR 91m and 
were presented within current liabilities. These loans 
together with the respective current loans of EUR 18.8m 
with breached covenants were classified on demand. In 
2017 the Group had obtained the waivers from  its banks 
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relating to its EUR 20.7m of long-term loans stating that 
the bank won’t demand payments as a consequence of 
the breach. For other long-term loans amounting to EUR 
70m and for the current loans amounting to EUR 15.8m 
the Group signed additional agreements in 2017, which 
adjusted the covenants for the consolidated financial 
statements for 2016 so that there was no breaches under 
the adjusted covenants. And for the remaining EUR 0.3m 
of the long-term loans and EUR 3m of current loans with 
the breached covenants the Group didn’t receive a waiver 
from the bank before the release of this report. However, 
the related bank did not demand for the loan repayment.  

The Group’s euro-denominated corporate bonds with 
the principle amounts of EUR 50m and EUR 78m origi-
nally matured on 23 March 2017 and 7 December 2018, 
respectively. Bondholders’ meetings in March 2016 voted 
for the prolongation of both bonds by four years each. 
That leads to new maturity dates of 23 March 2021 and 
7 December 2022. The main conditions of the bonds re-
mained unchanged. In particular this is related to interest 
rates and other key terms and conditions (Note 24). 

Operating environment  
Russia continues economic reforms and development 
of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required 
by a market economy. The future stability of the Russian 
economy is largely dependent upon these reforms 
and developments and the effectiveness of economic, 
financial and monetary measures undertaken by the 
government.

In 2017 and 2018 so far the Russian economy stabilized 
compared to the years before. Even if there’s still a 
certain volatility, there are positive signs as well: the 
oil-price after the dramatic drop in 2014/15 increased 
during 2016 already and continued in 2017 till today. 
While a barrel of brent oil was trading between 30 and 55 
USD in 2016 it increased to approximately 65 USD in 2017 
and in May 2018 even hit the 80 USD – level. The Central 
bank of Russia key interest rate that peaked at 17% in 
2014/15 went down to 10% in 2016, below 8% in 2017 
and is currently at 7.25%. The Russian ruble exchange 
rate to euro that was above 85 RUB/EUR in the beginning 
of 2016 strengthened significantly (from a ruble perspec-
tive) to the level of 60 RUB/EUR and from there went up 

to around 70 RUB/EUR again – for the best part of the 
second half of 2017. In April 2018 it went up to almost  
80 RUB/EUR again but again went toward 73.5 RUB/EUR 
on 26 June 2018. Management pays high attention to 
the fluctuations of the indicator given above.

Biological assets and agricultural produce
The valuation of agricultural produce, which has already 
been harvested and has not yet been sold on the repor-
ting date is based on market prices for the respective type 
of product. Market prices are determined on the basis  
of data collected from the Russian market-monitoring 
institutes, offers from suppliers and the Group’s actual 
selling prices around the valuation date, which in the 
opinion of management reflects the market activity most 
accurately. This data also provides the basis for valuing 
unharvested crops. Valuation of animals is also based on 
data collected from the Russian market-monitoring insti-
tutes as well as the Group’s actual selling prices for meat 
around 31 December.

The valuation of biological assets and agricultural produce 
including own produced feedstuffs also depends on judg-
ments, estimates and assumptions, as explained in the 
accounting policies and measurement bases. These are 
mainly as follows:

• Milk cows:  
milk yields, milk price, number of newborn calves by 
100 cows per year, cows’ expected lifetime.  

• Winter crops: 
the expected harvest yield and the selling prices of 
future agricultural produce

• Own produced feedstuffs:  
the market price for the alternative feedstuffs, the  
protein and starch contents, and harvest yield

Below, the most important forward-looking assumptions, 
as well as other essential sources of valuation uncertainty 
at the end of a reporting period are mentioned, which 
can generate a considerable amount of risk that the  
assets and liabilities recognized may have to be signifi-
cantly restated in the next business year.
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The degree of completion for agricultural products, which 
have not yet been harvested on the reporting date, is  
estimated on the basis of ongoing observation and in-
sights gained from experience. Their value is based upon 
such data and the market prices forecasted by manage-
ment based on its expectation of future harvest yield, 
supply and demand as well as based on analysis perfor-
med by reputable Russian and foreign market-monitoring 
institutes and agencies. Changes in these market prices 
would result in changes in the value of unharvested 
crops. On the reporting date, the value of unfinished crop 
products in current assets was EUR 3,221k (prior year: 
EUR 3,097k). 

The valuation of non-current as well as current animal 
assets also involves estimates of the continued healthy 
development of the livestock. Additional valuation para-
meters are regularly measurable criteria, which result in 
the carrying amount based on the market prices ascer-
tained by third parties, which is primarily milk price. On 
31 December 2017, the Group had non-current biological 
assets of EUR 186,487k (prior year: EUR 121,566k) and 
current biological assets of EUR 1,089k (prior year:  
EUR 1,248k) (livestock).

Revaluation of land and buildings
The Group measures land and buildings at revalued 
amounts with changes in fair value being recognized in 
OCI. The Group engages an independent valuation expert 
to assess the fair value of its land and buildings. The 
Group performed the full revaluation of its land and buil-
dings as of 30 September 2016. Subsequent to this date, 
the Group performed revaluation of land and buildings 
for newly acquired/constructed land and buildings. Land 
was valued by reference to market data, using compa-
rable prices adjusted for specific market factors such as 
nature, location, quality and condition of the property. 
Buildings were valued based on current replacement cost, 
which was supplemented by an impairment test. The 
key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the 
properties and sensitivity analyses are provided in Note 
14 and 15.

As of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 the 
Group’s management revisited the valuation of land and 
buildings made as of September 2016 and concluded that 
the carrying amounts of the Group’s land and buildings 
continued to represent their fair values and no full revalu-
ation of land and buildings was required.

In accordance with Russian civil law, the Group owns 
portions of certain areas of land in which other ow-
ners, primarily individuals each owning relatively minor 
portion, also own portions (“jointly owned land”). The 
Group cultivates this land with the aim of acquiring 
additional portions of the land over time and obtaining 
the full ownership right. This type of ownership gives the 
Group the right to pro rata profits from the use of the 
land and the obligation to cover the pro rata expenses for 
the maintenance of its share of the land. Management 
assumes that obtaining full ownership of jointly owned 
land can be achieved without any great effort or expense 
and will be equivalent to full ownership. For this reason, 
management did not differentiate between jointly owned 
land and land in full ownership in these consolidated 
financial statements. The Group’s management as well as 
an independent expert appointed by the Group are of the 
opinion that the market prices for jointly owned land are 
comparable with those for land in full ownership. For this 
reason, no markdowns were recognized when calculating 
the fair values of the portions of land.
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6. NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS 

New and amended standards and interpretations  
adopted
The Group applied, for the first time, certain amendments 
to the standards which are affective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Group has not early 
adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment 
that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The following amendments affected the Group’s accoun-
ting policy and disclosures but did not have material 
impact on its financial performance:

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows:  
Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, are 
part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require an 
entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. On initial application 
of the amendment, entities are not required to provide 
comparative information for preceding periods. 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes:  
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider 
whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits 
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of 
deductible temporary difference related to unrealized 
losses. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance 
on how an entity should determine future taxable profits 
and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may 
include the recovery of some assets for more than their 
carrying amount.

Annual improvements 2014-2016 cycle

Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in  
Other Entities: Clarification of the scope of disclosure 
requirements in IFRS 12
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements 
in IFRS 12, other than those in paragraphs B10–B16,apply 
to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an 

associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or 
an associate) that is classified (or included in a disposal 
group that is classified) as held for sale.

The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpre-
tation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet 
effective.

Standards issued but not yet effective
The standards and amendments that are issued, but not 
yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s 
financial statements are disclosed below. These standards 
and amendments are those that the Group reasonably 
expects potentially to have an impact on accounting  
policy, disclosures, financial position or performance when 
applied at a future date. The Group intends to adopt 
these standards and amendments when they become 
effective.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, 
Financial Instruments, which reflects all phases of the 
financial instruments project and replaces IAS 39, Finan-
cial Instruments, and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The 
standard introduces new requirements for classification 
and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retro-
spective application is required, but comparative informa-
tion is not compulsory. 

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the 
required effective date and will not restate comparative 
information. The Group is finalizing a detailed impact 
assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9. This assessment 
is based on currently available information and may be 
subject to changes arising from further reasonable and 
supportable information being made available to the 
Group in 2018 when the Group will adopt IFRS 9. Overall, 
the Group expects no significant impact on its statement 
of financial position and equity except for the effect of ap-
plying the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group 
expects an increase in the loss allowance resulting in a 
negative impact on equity of approximately EUR 600k. 



  70 Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a new 
five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is 
recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
transferring goods or services to a customer. The prin-
ciples in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to 
measuring and recognizing revenue. The new revenue 
standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all 
current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Eit-
her a full or modified retrospective application is required 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
with early adoption permitted. The Group is currently 
finalizing its assessment of the impact of IFRS 15 and 
expects that its adoption in 2018 will have an immaterial 
effects on the Group’s net results of operations; however, 
there will be the changes in presentation and disclosure 
as those requirements in IFRS 15 are more detailed than 
under the current standard.  

IFRS 16, Leases
The scope of IFRS 16 (effective for annual periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2019) includes leases of all 
assets, with certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a 
contract, or a part of a contract, that conveys the right to 
use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. IFRS 16 requires lessees 
to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet 
model in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17. At 
the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will reco-
gnize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease 
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the 
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The lease expense recognition pattern for les-
sees will generally be accelerated as compared to today. 
Key balance sheet metrics such as leverage and finance 
ratios, debt covenants and income statement metrics, 
such as earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization (EBITDA), could be impacted. Also, the cash 
flow statement for lessees could be affected as payments 
for the principal portion of the lease liability will be 
presented within financing activities. IFRS 16 also requires 
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures 
than under IAS 17.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but 
not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose 
to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a 
modified retrospective approach. The standard’s tran-
sition provisions permit certain reliefs. The adoption of 
IFRS 16 will result in recognition of the right of use assets 
and the lease liabilities relating to the Group’s land lease 
rights (Note 30), which have not been recognized under 
IAS 17. In 2018, the Group will continue to assess the 
potential effect of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial 
statements.

The following standards will most probably have no  
material effect on the financial statements of the Group:

•  IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 

•  IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions

•  Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture

•  IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards: Deletion of short-term exemp-
tions for first-time adopters

•  IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: 
Clarification that measuring investees at fair value 
through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment 
choice

•  Applying IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, with IFRS 4,
Insurance Contracts, - Amendments to IFRS 4

•  IFRIC Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency Transactions
 and Advance Consideration

•  IFRIC Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax 
Treatment
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•  Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 
Cycle 

•  Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in IFRS Standards

7.  REVENUE

Revenue comprises the following:

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Raw milk  119,181    73,225   

Milk processing  4,754    1,354   

Grain and other agricultural 
products  33,420    29,137   

Livestock and animal 
products  14,544    13,636   

Other  2,658    1,338   

 174,557    118,690   

In 2017 the Group had one customer with a share of 
revenue exceeding ten percent of the Group’s revenue.  
The biggest customer accounts for 15% (29% in 2016).  
This customer purchases exclusively milk. 

The total amount of sold milk in 2017 is 285,600 tons 
(211,600 tons in 2016). The average selling price in 2017 
is 29.3 RUB excl. VAT (0.44 Euro) and in 2016 26.0 RUB  
excl. VAT (0.35 Euro).

8.  OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Other operating income is composed of the following 
items: 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Government subsidies  7,999    7,903   

Consulting services and 
agent fees  1,412    2,755   

Currency translation  
differences  -      1,086   

Rent income  275    243   

Gain from the sale  
of property, plant and  
equipment

 152    148   

Other  2,878    1,364   

 12,716    13,499   

In the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group reco-
gnized in other operating income government subsidies 
in the amount of EUR 4,248k (prior year: EUR 5,849k) 
as ongoing crop and dairy production support, another 
EUR 2,251k (prior year: EUR 897k) for the purchase of 
breeding animals and EUR 1,500k (prior year: EUR 1,157k) 
were other various subsidies for operating expenses’ com-
pensation (see also Note 25). The government subsidies 
for the purchase of breeding animals that are recognized 
at fair value were recognized in profit or loss. Other 
various subsidies relating to operating expenses were also 
recognized in profit or loss in order to match the respec-
tive expenses. 

Subsidies relating to investments in property, plant and 
equipment are recognized as a deferred income in the 
statement of financial position and released to profit and 
loss over the life of the related assets (Note 25). 

Additionally, the Group receives the interest subsidies 
from the government and presents them within the  
financial expenses showing the related interest presented 
(see Note 12).
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9.  COST OF MATERIALS

Cost of materials comprises the following: 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Feedstuffs  29,261    19,525   

Consumables and  
spare parts  16,159    11,698   

Fertilizers  11,826    8,414   

Fuel and lubricants  10,420    7,046   

Crop protection agents  5,636    4,289   

Seed  3,008    2,123   

Goods for resale  1,837    596   

 78,147    53,691   

Feedstuffs are mainly purchased soybean cake and rape-
seed cake. However, the significant portion of the Group’s 
feedstuff is produced by the Group based on its crops, 
which are included into profit or loss in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in line ”Change in 
balances of agricultural produce and biological assets”. 

10.  PERSONNEL COSTS

Personnel costs were as follows: 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Wages and salaries  32,020    22,518   

Pension contributions  6,171    4,285   

Other social insurance 
contributions  2,613    1,883   

 40,804    28,686   

Average headcount (full-time equivalents) was 4,891 
in fiscal year 2017 (prior year: 3,835). On 31 December 
2017, the Ekosem Group had 6,710 employees (full-time 
equivalents) (prior year: 4,111).

The employees are shown by function below: 

Full-time equivalents 2017 2016

Production  4,758    2,759   

Sales  70    56   

Administration  428    253   

Other  1,454    1,043   

 6,710    4,111   

“Other” relates to employees, providing various services, 
areas such as construction workers, canteen and social 
facilities’ employees.   
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11.  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The other operating expenses comprise the following:

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Services  6,379    3,150   

Legal and consulting costs  3,839    2,438   

Transportation costs  3,341    2,029   

Property tax and other  
tax expenses  2,252    1,321   

Leasing expenses  1,900    892   

Loss on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment  1,214    1,550   

Travel expenses  1,016    686   

Provision for risks  
and doubtful accounts  
receivable  934    637   

Insurance expenses  735    383   

Claims and penalties  
from third parties  702    616   

Bank commissions  461    332   

Postage, internet,  
telephone  433    324   

Foreign currency  
translation loss  335    - 

Loss from revaluation  
of property, plant and  
equipment  192    668   

Other  4,567    1,806   

 28,300    16,832   

12.  FINANCIAL INCOME / FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Financial income is composed of the following items:

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Interest income  4,876    4,563   

Financial income  4,876    4,563   

Financial expenses comprise the following: 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Interest expenses  50,114    37,431   

Foreign currency  
translation loss  120    1,825   

Government grants related 
to interest expenses (15,014) (9,410)

Bank commissions related 
to financial activities  2,388    2,081   

Other  24    112   

Financial expenses  37,632    32,039   

The government interest subsidies were paid for loans 
which fall under the eligibility criteria of the Russian  
Federation and/or the respective region. Starting from  
1 January 2017, there was a change in the interest sub-
sidies allocation mechanism. If a loan is taken for an  
activity eligible for subsidy, from 2017 the borrower  
submits an application to the bank. If all of the bank's 
requirements for a loan are met the bank receives the 
approval from the Ministry of Agriculture of Russian  
Federation that the borrower can be included into the 
subsidy program. If the approval is received the borrower 
gets the loan with a lower than market interest rate;  
and the bank receives the compensation of the difference 
between the market interest rate and the contracted 
loan interest rate directly from the government. This 
lower than market interest rate is dependent on the key 
interest rate of the Russian Central Bank at the time the 
loan is granted and cannot be higher than 5%. Upon loan 
receipt, the Group recognizes the lower than market 
interest rate loans at fair value determined based on the 
market rates with the difference recognized as govern-
ment grants related to interest expenses and amortized 
over the term of the loans.
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For the loans received before 1 January 2017 the subsidi-
zing procedure remains the same as in 2016. That means 
the Group continues to pay the full amount of market 
interest rate to the bank and receives a compensation 
from the government. 

13.  INCOME TAXES

Income taxes recognized in the statement of  
comprehensive income

Income tax expense is composed of the following items:

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Current taxes
Current year (tax expense)  4,364    395   
Deferred taxes 
Recognition and reversal 
of temporary differences 
(tax income), previous year 
expense (121)  71   

Grand total tax expense 
 4,243    466   

Taxable profits of the Russian subsidiaries which are  
essentially achieved in primary agricultural production 
are subject to a tax rate of 0%. Taxable profits of the  
Russian holding companies as well as OOO EkoNiva- 
Semena, OOO NivaStroy, milk processing companies  and 
a few smaller companies are subject to ordinary corpo-
rate income tax rate of 20%. These tax rates were applied 
in calculating the deferred tax assets and liabilities. A tax 
rate of 30% was applied for the German companies.

Tax reconciliation 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Profit before tax  41,047    4,428   

Income tax at a tax rate  
of 30% (12,314) (1,328)

Effect of taxation at 0%  
in Russia  41    2,263   

Effects of taxation at 20% 
in Russia  1,835    608   

Utilization of deferred tax 
assets on loss carryforwards 
not previously recognized  3    2,124   

Non-recognition of  
deferred tax assets on loss 
carryforwards (2,301) (1,323)

Effect of tax-exempt income 
and non-deductible  
expenses (285) (2,810)

Effect of non-taxable gain 
on bargain purchase  8,778   -

(4,243) (466)

Income taxes recognized directly in equity
A calculation of deferred taxes takes place as part of the 
revaluation of land and buildings based on the revalued 
amounts which exceed the taxable carrying amounts. 
The revaluation reserve is recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income; the corresponding taxes are also 
recognized in other comprehensive income and not 
recognized in profit or loss.
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Movement of deferred taxes 

12/31/2017 

Balance at 
12/31/2016

EUR '000

Recognized in 
the statement of 
financial position 

due to business 
combination

EUR '000

Recognized in 
the statement of 

comprehensive 
income 

EUR '000

Recognized 
directly in 

equity

EUR '000

Currency 
translation 
differences

EUR '000

Balance at 
12/31/2017

EUR '000

Property, plant and  
equipment (10,354) (3,671) (74) (1,523) 840 (14,782)

Inventories 16 - (10) - (1) 5

Trade receivables 37 - 3 - (3) 37

Other current assets 174 - 133 - (19) 288

Other 102 - 69 - (9) 162

(10,025) (3,671) 121 (1,523) 808 (14,290)

12/31/2016

Balance at 
12/31/2015

EUR '000

Recognized in 
the statement of 

comprehensive 
income

EUR '000

Recognized 
directly  

in equity

EUR '000

Currency 
translation 
differences

EUR '000

Balance at 
12/31/2016

EUR '000

Property, plant and equipment (7,439) (67) (1,036) (1,812) (10,354)

Inventories (18) 33 - 1 16

Trade receivables 14 17 - 6 37

Other current assets 226 (93) - 41 174

Other 45 39 - 18 102

(7,172) (71) (1,036) (1,746) (10,025)

A Significant portion of deferred tax liabilities results from 
the regular revaluation of land at fair value. IFRSs require 
the assumption that the land, which has indefinite life, 
will be sold at some point in future and that the diffe-
rence between the values in the tax accounts and the 
IFRS financial reporting are reversed. As the sale of land 
is not deemed to be an agricultural activity, revenue from 
its sale is taxable at a rate of 20% in Russia even if the 
company generating the profit is an agricultural company 
exempt from tax on profits. This principle must be applied 
even if the company does not intend to sell the land.

The Group has total tax loss carryforwards amounting 
to EUR 34,635k (prior year EUR 62,520k), of which EUR 
24,715k (prior year EUR 56,100k) is attributable to the 

German Group entities with regard to corporate income 
tax (trade tax: EUR 9,180k (prior year EUR 35,300k)) 
and EUR 9,920k to companies in Russia (prior year EUR 
6,420k), which taxable profits/losses are subject to 20% 
income tax. For entire tax loss carryforwards no deferred 
tax assets have been recognized to date. There are no 
time restrictions on the carryforward of tax losses. 

As of 31 December 2017, no deferred tax liabilities  
(as in the prior year) were recognized for taxes on profits 
not transferred by the Ekosem Group’s subsidiaries to  
the parent. The Ekosem Group decided that undistributed 
profits of its subsidiaries will not be distributed in the 
foreseeable future.
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The temporary differences associated with investments in 
the Group’s subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability 
has not been recognized, aggregate to EUR 206,131k 
(prior year: EUR 157,902k).

Tax risks in the Russian Federation
The major part of the Group’s business activities takes 
place in the Russian Federation. The current Russian tax 
legislation is subject to changing interpretations, selec-
tion and inconsistent application and changes which may 
occur regularly and at short notice and may also have 
retroactive effect. Assessment periods may be audited 
for the past three years. Under certain circumstances, 
the Russian tax authorities may also audit periods in the 
more distant past. 

There are requirements on the control of transactions 
between related parties in the Russian tax legislation 
for income tax, including  the requirements on related 
parties, the list of transactions with related parties, which 
are subject to control, pricing methods and requirements 
on the justification of pricing methods as well as regula-
tions for the reporting of transactions with related parties 
to the tax authorities of the Russian Federation (RF FTS) 
and the related documentation requirements. In 2017, 
the Group calculated its tax liabilities for transactions 
with related parties on the basis of actual prices. The 
Group is constantly taking measures to meet the require-
ments of Russian tax laws with regard to such trans-
actions. 

There are requirements in the Russian tax legislation 
designed to limit the usage of low tax jurisdictions and 
aggressive tax planning, including internationally accep-
table terms such as “taxation of controlled foreign com-
panies”, “company’s tax residency” and “actual recipient 
(owner) of income”. Furthermore, Russian tax authorities 
increased level of cooperation with tax authorities  
of foreign jurisdictions on data communication about  
various business transactions.  

Executive management assumes that its interpretation 
of the tax laws and the industry practice is adequate and 
the tax items of the consolidated entities are correct. 
The Group’s interpretation of the Russian tax laws could 
be disputed and the tax authorities could challenge the 
methods applied. This could lead to additional taxes,  
fines and sanctions against the Group. Tax items were 
identified by the Group which could be subject to a  
different interpretation of the tax laws or other regulations.
Management believes that at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 the respective risk is approximately zero. 
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14.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities. 

31 December 2017

Date of  
valuation

Note quoted prices  
in active  
markets

Level 1 

significant  
observable 

inputs

Level 2

significant  
unobservable 

inputs

Level 3

Total

Assets measured at fair values

Property,  plant and equipment 31 December 2017 15  -  99,144    232,252    331,396   

Non-current biological assets 31 December 2017 19  -  -  186,487    186,487   
Current biological assets 31 December 2017 19  -  1,089    3,221    4,310   
Non-current financial assets 31 December 2017 31.6  278    -  -  278   
Assets for which fair values  
are disclosed

Non-current financial assets 31 December 2017 31.6  -  25,541    -  25,541   
Trade receivables 31 December 2017 31.6  -  14,485    -  14,485   
Current financial assets 31 December 2017 31.6  -  40,203    -  40,203   
Other current assets 31 December 2017 31.6  -  40,031    -  40,031   
Liabilities for which fair values 
are disclosed

Loans and borrowings 31 December 2017 31.6  127,674    394,864    -  522,538   

Obligations under financial lease 31 December 2017 31.6  -  24,742    -  24,742   
Current trade and other  
accounts payable 31 December 2017 31.6  -  41,373    -  41,373   

Other current financial liabilities 31 December 2017 31.6  -  36,094    -  36,094   
Other current non-financial 
liabilities 31 December 2017 31.6  -  25,605    -  25,605   

Fair value measured using
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31 December 2016

Date of  
valuation

Note quoted prices  
in active  
markets

Level 1 

significant  
observable 

inputs

Level 2

significant  
unobservable 

inputs

Level 3

Total

Assets measured at fair values

Property,  plant and equipment 31 December 2016 15  -  66,045    137,201    203,246   

Non-current biological assets 31 December 2016 19  -  -  121,566    121,566   
Current biological assets 31 December 2016 19  -  1,248    3,097    4,345   
Non-current financial assets 31 December 2016 31.6  71    -  -  71   
Assets for which fair values  
are disclosed

Non-current financial assets 31 December 2016 31.6  -  54,827    -  54,827   

Trade receivables 31 December 2016 31.6  -  11,233    -  11,233   

Current financial assets 31 December 2016 31.6  -  7,667    -  7,667   

Other current assets 31 December 2016 31.6  -  24,950    -  24,950   

Liabilities for which fair values 
are disclosed

Loans and borrowings 31 December 2016 31.6  99,229    235,806    -  335,035   

Obligations under financial lease 31 December 2016 31.6  -  17,044    -  17,044   
Current trade and other  
accounts payable 31 December 2016 31.6  -  43,170    -  43,170   

Other current financial liabilities 31 December 2016 31.6  -  2,586    -  2,586   

Other current non-financial 
liabilities 31 December 2016 31.6  -  11,508    -  11,508   

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the reporting period.  

Fair value measured using
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The table below contains the main unobservable inputs used in the calculation.

Assets Valuation  
technique

Significant  
unobservable inputs

Sensitivity of the  
input to fair value

Property, plant  
and equipment -  
Buildings

Depreciated  
replacement cost 

Estimated construction costs, 
unified replacement cost of 
construction per cubic meter, 
unified annual construction 
costs indexes

Increase (decrease) in these inputs would  
increase (decrease) the fair value

Biological assets - 
Livestock DCF

Milk yields Increase (decrease) in milk yields would  
increase (decrease) the fair value

Milk price Increase (decrease) in milk price would  
increase (decrease) the fair value

Number of newborn calves  
by 100 cows per year

Increase (decrease) in number of calves  
would increase (decrease) the fair value

Discount rate Increase (decrease) in discount rate would 
decrease (increase) the fair value

Biological assets - 
Crop production

DCF

Expected selling price of crop  
at the date of harvest for winter 
crops

Increase (decrease) in expected selling  
price would increase (decrease) the fair value

Harvest yield Increase (decrease) in harvest yield  
would increase (decrease) the fair value

Future expenses Increase (decrease) in expenses would  
decrease (increase) the fair value

Important inputs for the valuation of livestock are milk yields and the market price for milk. 

As of 31 December 2017, an increase in the milk yields by 0.5 kilo/cow/day would lead to an increase in the fair value 
by EUR 14,709k (prior year: EUR 14,597k). A corresponding fall by the same amount would result in decrease in the 
fair value of the herd by EUR 14,709k (prior year: EUR 14,597k). An increase in the milk prices by 5% would lead to an 
increase in the fair value by EUR 33,976k (prior year: EUR 27,719k). A corresponding fall by the same amount would 
result in decrease in the fair value of the herd by EUR 33,976k (prior year: EUR 27,719k).
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15.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment comprise the following:

EUR '000

Land Buil-
dings

Assets 
under 

con-
struction 
inculding 
advances

Agricultu-
ral  

machines

Trans-
port

Other 
machines

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equip-
ment

Bearer 
plants

Total

Acquisition costs / 
Revaluation

As of 01/01/2017 66,045 166,496 29,559 46,987 9,542 40,277 8,772 8,441 376,119

Additions 11,020 38,833 54,301 17,162 5,007 12,890 2,637 3,537 145,387

Acquisition due  
to business  
comibinations 19,608 40,427 228 5,061 1,628 16,823 166 - 83,941

Assets put  
into operation and  
reclassification 2 15,830 (15,241) (6) (1) 6 67 - 657

Disposals - (141) - (279) (351) (460) (11) (2,407) (3,649)

Revaluation 7,712 20,608 - - - - - - 28,320

Currency translation (5,243) (15,179) (3,941) (4,240) (909) (3,289) (740) (669) (34,210)

As of 12/31/2017 99,144 266,874 64,906 64,685 14,916 66,247 10,891 8,902 596,565

As of 01/01/2016 48,182 97,316 14,488 32,754 6,168 28,750 4,215 6,152 238,025

Additions 359 17,129 16,725 5,345 1,880 4,358 3,157 2,234 51,187

Acquisition due  
to business  
combinations 321 489 87 37 25 7 8 - 974

Assets put  
into operation and  
reclassification 190 6,749 (7,062) - 1 76 (149) - (195)

Disposals - (1,137) (194) (366) (353) (559) (9) (1,582) (4,200)

Revaluation 4,883 18,339 - - - - - - 23,222

Currency translation 12,110 27,611 5,515 9,217 1,821 7,645 1,550 1,637 67,105

As of 12/31/2016 66,045 166,496 29,559 46,987 9,542 40,277 8,772 8,441 376,119
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EUR '000

Land Buildings Assets 
under 

con-
struction 
inculding 
advances

Agricultrual 
machines

Transport Other 
machines

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equip-
ment

Bearer 
plants

Total

Amortization, 
depreciation and 
impairment 

   

As of 01/01/2017  - (29,295)  - (24,886) (5,933) (26,986) (1,399) (3,755) (92,254)

Disposals  - 7  - 197 298 402 6 1,397 2,307
Depreciation  - (7,841)  - (6,725) (2,198) (6,101) (694) (1,386) (24,945)

Currency  
translation - 2,507 - 2,172 518 2,181 135 236 7,749
As of 12/31/2017  - (34,622)  - (29,242) (7,315) (30,504) (1,952) (3,508) (107,143)

As of 01/01/2016  - (19,083)  - (15,528) (3,862) (17,808) (677) (1,531) (58,489)

Disposals  - 746  - 238 318 227 7 - 1,536
Depreciation  - (5,380)  - (4,768) (1,270) (4,447) (469) (1,584) (17,918)

Currency trans-
lation  - (5,578)  - (4,827) (1,119) (4,959) (260) (640) (17,383)

As of 12/31/2016  - (29,295)  - (24,886) (5,933) (26,986) (1,399) (3,755) (92,254)

EUR '000

Land Buildings Assets 
under 

con-
struction 
inculding 
advances

Agricultrual 
machines

Transport Other 
machines

Other 
property, 
plant and 

equip-
ment

Bearer 
plants

Total

Net carrying 
amount 

12/31/2017  99,144    232,252    64,906    35,443    7,601    35,743    8,939    5,394    489,422   

12/31/2016  66,045    137,201    29,559    22,101    3,609    13,291    7,373    4,686    283,865   

The carrying amount of the assets recognized as part of 
a finance lease is EUR 26,125k (prior reporting date: EUR 
19,096k). These are transport, agricultural machinery and 
equipment. See Note 29.

The amount of borrowing costs capitalized on the 
construction of cow houses and other buildings duri-
ng the year ended 31 December 2017 was EUR 2,665k 
(2016: EUR 1,191k). The rate used to determine the 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization was 
12.05% (2016: 9.75%), which is the effective interest 
rate for the respective loans. The respective subsidy for 
interest capitalized on the construction in 2017 is EUR 
1,468k (2016: EUR 844k). The effective interest rate after 
deducting subsidies in 2017 is 2.67%  (2016: 2.84%). 

As of 31 December 2017, the Group had advances given 
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment totaling 
to EUR 23,366k (2016: EUR 840k). Those advances are 
included into the line “Assets under construction inclu-
ding advances” with a total of EUR 64,906k (2016: EUR 
29,559k) in the table above. 

15.1 Assets pledged as security
Property, plant and equipment belonging to the Group 
have a total carrying amount of EUR 489,422k (prior year: 
EUR 283,865k), of which assets with a carrying amount 
of EUR 237,654k are pledged to secure Group liabilities 
(prior year: EUR 148,683k). Additionally, as of 31 Decem-
ber 2017, the Group also had an obligation to pledge the 
new constructed buildings and acquired assets with the 
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carrying amount of EUR 79,798k. The Group does not 
have the right to sell these assets without settling the 
corresponding liabilities, thus canceling the pledge.

15.2 Revaluation of land and buildings 
Revaluation of land and buildings was performed by an 
independent appraiser who determined their fair values. 
As of 30 September 2016, all assets of these asset classes 
were revalued. The assets put into operations after  
30 September 2016 have been measured at fair value  
on a quarterly base.

If land and buildings were measured using the cost  
model, their amortized cost would be as follows:

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Buildings  184,239    110,908   

Land  31,455    15,211   

 215,694    126,119   

15.3 Fair value reconciliation
Revaluation of buildings has an impact both on profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income. Loss from revalu-
ation of land and buildings presented in other operating 
expenses in 2017 is EUR 192k (prior period: EUR 668k). 
See also Note 11. 

15.4 Impairment testing
At each year end, the Group analyses impairment indica-
tors and performs impairment testing, if there are impair-
ment indicators, and as part of its revaluation of buildings 
based on depreciated replacement cost for each CGU.   
As of 31 December 2017, management concluded that 
there were impairment indicators for Orenburg regional 
unit. As of 31 December 2016, management concluded 
that there were impairment indicators for Orenburg 
and Tyumen regional units. As a result, management 
performed impairment testing of property, plant and 
equipment at the level of cash-generating units. For other 
regional units there were no impairment indicators, but 
the impairment testing was performed due to revaluation
of buildings based on depreciated replacement cost 
model. 

As of 31 December 2017, for the purposes of impairment 
testing, the recoverable amount was determined based 
on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections 
as follows:

•  cash flow projections were prepared based on actual 
results of cash-generating units for the reporting period 
and on the business plan for 2018 approved by the 
management; 

•  cash flows were measured at nominal terms;

•  the average price for milk for 2018 was planned at RUB
31.7 per kilo (incl. VAT); in 2019 and the subsequent 
years average price for milk is expected to increase to 
RUB 37.1 per kilo (incl. VAT) in 2022;

•  the average milk yield per dairy cow for Voronezh 
region, the largest unit, is budgeted at 25.4 kilos  
per day in 2018 with a growth to 28.4 kilos per day in  
2022; the average milk yield per dairy cow for other  
regions varies from 18.9 kilos per day to 25.3 kilos  
per day in 2018 with a growth to 20.9 kilos-26.7 kilos 
per day in 2022;

•  costs of materials for Voronezh region are expected to 
increase by 13% in 2018 and by 6% annually in 2019-
2022; costs of materials for others region are expected 
to increase by 7-33% in 2018 and by 10-4% annually in 
2019-2022;

•  payroll is expected to increase by 12-44% in 2018 and 
by 9-4% annually in 2019-2022;

•  13.2% pre-tax rate (WACC) was applied to discount 
2018-2021 cash flows, 14.1% rate was applied to 2022 
cash flows and afterwards; 

•  the Group plans to make annual capital investments 
in 2018-2022 to replace the existing property, plant and 
equipment, including RUB 1,100-1,766 mln annually 
in Voronezh region and RUB 245-274 mln annually in 
Siberian region, etc.;
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•  no capital expenditure for increase in production 
capacity, such as increase in cow herd or agricultural 
land, was included;

•  cash flows beyond the five-year period equal to the 
cash flows in 2022 as adjusted for 3.6% inflation.

As of 31 December 2016, for the purposes of impairment 
testing, the recoverable amount was also determined 
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow  
projections as follows:

•  cash flow projections were prepared based on actual
results of cash-generating units for the reporting period 
and on the business plan for 2017 approved by the 
management; 

•  cash flows were measured at nominal terms;

•  the average price for milk in Voronezh region, the 
largest unit, for 2017 was planned at RUB 33.1 per kilo 
(incl. VAT); in 2018 and the subsequent years average 
price for milk is expected to increase to RUB 39.5 per 
kilo (incl. VAT) in 2021;

•  average milk yield per dairy cow is budgeted at 
24.1 kilos per day in 2017 with growth to 27.8 kilos  
per day in 2021;

•  costs of main materials are expected to increase by 
6% in 2017-2018 and by 4% for each year till 2021;

•  payroll is expected to increase by 6% in 2017-2018 
and by 4% in each year till 2021;

•  13.8% pre-tax rate was applied to discount 
2017-2021 cash flows, 14.8% rate was applied to  
2022 cash flows and afterwards; 

•  the Group plans to make annual capital investments 
to replace the existing property, plant and equipment, 
including RUB 885-1,171 mln annually in 2017-2021 
in Voronezh region and RUB 184-293 mln annually in 
Siberian region;

•  no capital expenditure for increase in production 
capacity, such as increase in cow herd or agricultural 
land, was included;

•  cash flows beyond the five-year period equal to the 
cash flows in 2021 as adjusted for 3.2% inflation.

In calculating the value in use, the most significant were 
the assumptions made in respect of milk prices and milk 
yield. The basis to determine the milk price comprises 
expectations of management relying on its forecasts 
concerning development of dairy farming in the Russian 
Federation and continuing government support to the 
development of the industry. The basis to determine 
future milk yield comprises expectations of manage-
ment based on the potential milk output of the Group’s 
Holstein cow herd, management ability to fully imple-
ment herd improvement (breeding/insemination in time, 
etc.), feeding optimization, further increase in quality of 
on-farm-produced feedstuff, ensuring animal health and 
the substitution of existing low-productivity breed by 
high-productivity Holstein pedigree heifers. It is essential 
for the planning to reach the average milk yield per dairy 
cow, because the result depends significantly on it. 

As of 31 December 2017, as a result of impairment 
testing, the Group management concluded that the 
recoverable amount of all Group’s cash-generating units 
exceeded their carrying amount with the total excess of 
EUR 22,825k, including an excess of EUR 1,846k relating 
to the largest Voronezh regional unit, and, therefore, no 
impairment was recognized. A decrease in the milk prices, 
a most critical assumption, by 5% would lead to excess of 
carrying amount of the assets over enterprise value of all 
Group’s cash-generating units of EUR 48,029k resulting in 
an impairment loss. 0.3% decrease in milk price will lead 
to that the recoverable amount of Voronezh cash-genera-
ting unit equal to the carrying amount of its assets.

As of 31 December 2016, as a result of impairment 
testing, the Group management concluded that the 
recoverable amount of all Group’s cash-generating units 
exceeded their carrying amount, and, therefore, no im-
pairment was recognized.
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16.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group’s intangible assets represent cropping rights 
(i.e. rights to cultivate agricultural land under operating 
lease agreements) and goodwill which were acquired in 
separate transactions. 

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Cropping rights  8,436    1,218   

Goodwill  2,666    - 

 11,102    1,218   

The goodwill amounting of EUR 2,666k resulted from ac-
quisition of APK Rusich and Razdolnoe Angus. The good-
will is allocated entirely to Voronezh segment. Please also 
see Note 3. Management performed impairment testing 
of the goodwill at the level of Voronezh cash-generating 
unit. As a result of impairment testing no impairment was 
identified and recognized (Note 15).

The movements of intangible assets were as follows:

EUR '000 2017 2016

Acquisition cost

As of 1 January 2,384 1,479

Additions 10,021 461

Currency translation (608) 444

As of 31 December 11,797 2,384

Amortization and impairment 2017 2016

As of 1 January (1,166) (873)

Amortization (55) (159)

Currency translation 526 (134)

As of 31 December (695) (1,166)

Balance as of 31 December 11,102 1,218
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17.  NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Non-current financial assets 12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Loans  25,541    54,827   

Other securities  278    71   

 25,819    54,898   

Current financial assets 12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Loans  40,203    7,667   

 40,203    7,667   

Loans are issued to related parties (see Note 33) and third parties; the loans are unsecured and bear interests at 
5-17.8% (prior year: 5-16.5%). There were no impaired and overdue loans. 

18.  OTHER NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT ASSETS

The other non-current assets comprise the following:

Other non-current assets 12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Cash reserved for acquisition of non-current assets  6,169    4,437   

Long-term VAT from financial leases  3,215    1,776   

Other  1,396    417   

10,780 6,630
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Other current assets 12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Government grants' receivable  6,378    6,564   

Short-term VAT from financial lease  1,296    1,127   

Other  2,576    2,939   

 10,250    10,630   

Long-term VAT from financial leases results from the fact 
that input tax will be refunded only after the future  
payment of the lease instalment. 

19.  NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT BIOLOGICAL   
       ASSETS

The biological assets include dairy cows and heifers  
(non-current/breeding), and fattening bulls (current/ 
breeding) as well as annual crops (crop production). 
These amounted to the following as of the respective 
reporting date:

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Non-current

Livestock - mature  94,833    56,869   

Livestock - immature  91,654    64,697   

 186,487    121,566   

Current

Livestock  1,089    1,248   

Crop production  3,221    3,097   

 4,310    4,345   

In addition to the recognized animals, cattle were kept on 
operating lease terms. The number of these animals as  
of 31 December 2017 was 734 heifers and 671 dairy cows 
(total 1,405 cattle). On the same date of the prior year, 
the total inventory of leased animals was 1,700 cattle,  
of these 176 heifers and 1,524 dairy cows.

At 31 December 2017 almost all the Group’s mature live-
stock and immature livestock is pledged as a security for 
the Group’s bank loans (Note 24).
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19.1  Non-current assets - main herds  

Number of 
animals on 
01/01/2017

Purchased Purchased 
within business 

combination

Own  
breeding

Disposal Number of 
animals on 
12/31/2017

Main herds  27,960    1,966   5,721    21,453    12,006  45,094   

Value in EUR '000  56,869    94,833   

Number of 
animals on 
01/01/2016

Purchased Purchased 
within business 

combination

Own  
breeding

Disposal Number of 
animals on 
12/31/2016

Main herds  24,805   -   -     12,087        8,932     27,960   

Value in EUR '000  39,752    56,869   

Main herds (mature livestock) include cows (fair value of EUR 94,646k as of 31 December 2017 and EUR 56,651k as  
of 31 December 2016). Besides cows non-current biological assets include horses and breeding bulls (total fair value of 
EUR 187k as of 31 December 2017 and EUR 218k as of 31 December 2016). 

19.2  Non-current and current assets - Young animals  

As of 
12/31/2016

Acquisitions Acquisi-
tions within 

business 
combination 

Born by the 
Group's heifers 

and cows

Weight 
gain

Transferred to 
main herd

Sales As of 
12/31/2017

H                     W H                  W H                  W H                     W W H                     W H                   W H                     W

Young 
animals 34,325   10,829         16,066  7,648        7,997    2,327   42,948     1,264           8,992         21,453   11,166 28,861    4,199      51,022   15,695         

Value in 
EUR '000  65,945             92,743            

As of 
12/31/2015

Acquisitions Acquisi-
tions within 

business 
combination

Born by the 
Group's heifers 

and cows

Weight 
gain

Transferred to 
main herd

Sales As of 
12/31/2016

H                     W H                  W H                  W H                     W W H                     W H                   W H                     W

Young 
animals 31,522    9,739         5,367    2,821 -                      - 31,753        936            7,746            12,087     6,256   22,230    4,157         34,325   10,829            

Value in 
EUR '000   44,620                 65,945               

H: heads
W: weight in tons

Young animals include open and pregnant heifers (fair value of EUR 91,654 as of 31 December 2017 and  
EUR 64,697k as of 31 December 2016), young bulls (fair value of EUR 1,053k as of 31 December 2017 and EUR 1,213k 
as of 31 December 2016) and young horses (fair value of EUR 36k as of 31 December 2017 and EUR 35k as of  
31 December 2016). 
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19.3  Non-current and current assets – crop production

During the reporting period the output of agricultural 
produce under crop production biological assets was  
as follows:

in tons 12/31/2017 12/31/2016

silage  359,961    280,578   

haylage  340,278    469,271   

sugar beat  233,910    165,015   

wheat  155,932    109,500   

corn  55,932    38,867   

hay  30,088    23,716   

barley  22,038    10,998   

peas  19,536    17,370   

soybean  15,742    17,513   

sunflower  14,296    14,360   

oats  4,551    3,666   

rape  4,085    2,526   

rye  1,516    -     

potatoes  -      2,066   

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s biological assets  
of crop production included 17,570 hectares of winter 
wheat (prior year: 14,502 hectares). At 31 December 
2017, the Group had 1,712 hectares of winter rye  
(prior year: 411 hectares).

19.4  Reconciliation of changes in biological assets 
Movements of biological assets of livestock production 
were as follows:

2017
EUR '000

2016
EUR '000

At 1 January 122,814 84,372

Acquisitions 33,407 11,800

Acquired in business combinations 19,530 -

Own breeding 4,372 4,139

Expenses for the period 47,570 32,961

Revenue from selling (14,544) (13,636)

Mortality (1,144) (869)

Gain/loss from initial recognition of 
agricultural produce and from changes 
in fair value of biological assets (9,568) (20,434)

Currency translation differences (14,861) 24,481

At 31 December 187,576 122,814

Movements of biological assets of crop growing were as 
follows:

2017
EUR '000

2016
EUR '000

At 1 January 3,097 2,545

Expenses for the period 60,544 58,683

Gain/loss from initial recognition of 
agricultural produce and from changes 
in fair value of biological assets 10,143 19,319

Harvested crops (70,308) (78,067)

Currency translation differences (255) 617

At 31 December 3,221 3,097

The gain/loss from initial recognition of agricultural  
produce and from changes in fair value of biological  
assets represent changes in unrealized gains/(losses)  
in relation to the valuation of biological assets. 
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20.  INVENTORIES

The inventories comprise the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Finished products  34,306    26,658   

Own produced feedstuffs  32,538    39,859   

Raw materials  17,168    12,458   

Work in progress  14,974    13,131   

Goods for resale  827    1,189   

Carrying amount  99,813    93,295   

During 2017 and 2016, no expenses for inventories car-
ried at net realizable value was required in the reporting 
period.

Finished products and own produced feedstuffs are  
evaluated at net realizable value. Raw materials, work  
in progress and goods for resale are stated at costs.  
For more details please refer to Note 4.4.n. 

At 31 December 2017 finished goods in the carrying 
amount of EUR 1,184k (prior year: EUR 1,454k) were 
pledged as a security for the Group’s bank loans  
(Note 24).

21.  TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables comprise the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Trade receivables  15,167    11,735   

Impairment loss (682) (502)

Trade receivables  14,485    11,233   

The impairment loss changed as follows:

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Opening balance 502 496

Utilization (703) (739)

Additions 934 637

Currency translation difference (51) 108

Final balance 682 502

The maturity structure of the Group’s receivables is:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Total trade receivables  15,167    11,735   

Thereof impaired 682 502

Thereof not impared  14,485    11,233   

Not impaired and not overdue 11,210 7,451

Not impaired but overdue by:

less than 60 days 1,176 3,373

60 to 150 days 1,608 94

150 days to 1 year 491 315

14,485 11,233

Trade receivables are due on a relatively short-term basis 
in each case. Based on this, and taking past experience 
into account, management assumes that non-impaired 
trade receivables are fully recoverable. 
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22.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Bank balances  14,206    2,192   

Cash on hand  45    15   

Cash and cash equivalents  14,251    2,207   

23.  SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital comprised the following nominal shares:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Share capital

Opening balance 80.4 80.4

Closing balance 80.4 80.4

All shares issued are fully paid up.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves did not increase in 2017 as well as in 
prior year. 

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the results of the  
revaluation of land and buildings which was performed 
using the revaluation model.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve represents 
foreign currency translation differences related to net 
investments in Russian subsidiaries and translation from 
the functional currency of Russian subsidiaries into the 
reporting currency of the Group. Furthermore, various 
loans within the Group were designated as a net in-
vestment in the operation, as repayment of the loans is 
neither expected in the foreseeable future nor currently 
intended. Therefore, the exchange differences relating 
to these loans were recognized in other comprehensive 
income in 2017 in the amount of EUR -956k (prior year 
EUR 9,368k). 

As revaluation reserve is denominated in rubles, thus, 
fluctuations of currency exchange rate have a certain im-
pact on its part of change of foreign currency translation 
reserve. In 2017 respective sum is EUR -6,099k (prior year 
EUR 12,517k).

The foreign currency translation reserve is also influenced 
by exchange difference arising from translation of the 
financial statements of Russian subsidiaries denomina-
ted in rubles into euro which is used for presentation of 
consolidated financial statements. In 2017 respective sum 
is EUR -7,362k (prior year EUR 15,243k).

24.  LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

Loans and borrowings as of the reporting date comprise 
the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Secured bank loans  403,825    253,782   

Corporate bonds  128,661    128,083   

Non-bank loans  21,764    17,448   

 554,250    399,313   
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Loans and borrowings are repayable after the reporting date as follows:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

< 1 year

   Secured bank loans  143,799    199,643   

   Non-bank loans  14,959    9,851   

   Corporate bonds  3,872    3,869   

1 - 5 years

   Secured bank loans  243,106    34,560   

   Corporate bonds  124,789    48,765   

   Non-bank loans  6,805    7,597   

> 5 years

   Secured bank loans  16,920    19,579   

   Corporate bonds  -  75,449   

 554,250    399,313   

In March 2016 the bondholders decided to defer the bonds by four years each. Those adjustments to the terms and 
conditions of the bonds have been registered in April 2016. The new due dates are March 2021 (bond no. 1 EUR 50 m) 
and December 2022 (bond no. 2 EUR 78 m), respectively.

The average effective annual interest rates were as follows at 31 December:

Non-current borrowings Current borrowings

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2016

RUB 10.01% 13.81% 10.55% 13.86%

EUR 8.54% 8.52% - -

Bank loans
In accordance to the loan agreements, the Group’s subsi-
diaries are required to comply with certain financial and 
non-financial covenants. The most significant and most 
important covenants are:

•  not to sell, transfer, lease, divest or otherwise dispose 
of certain assets;

•  to coordinate with the creditors in performing financial 
investments;

•  to coordinate with the creditors in issuing guaranties 
and granting collateral; 

•  to coordinate with the creditors in cases of 
reorganization;
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•  to maintain ratios such as debt to earnings 
before interests, taxes, depreciation  and amortization 
at specified levels;

•  to maintain certain turnover on the Group’s bank 
accounts;

•  to maintain a certain level of net assets;

•  to maintain a certain financial position.

In case of breach of these covenants penalties can be 
applied, interest rates can be changed or the schedule of 
repayment can be changed by the respective lender, up  
to immediate repayment. 

At 31 December 2017 the Group breached certain restric-
tive covenants related to its non-current loans. Therefore, 
at 31 December 2017 the Group didn’t have an uncon-
ditional right to defer their settlement for at least twelve 
months after the reporting date. Under IAS 1, at  
31 December 2017 the respective non-current loans 
amounted to EUR 23m and were presented within  
current liabilities. These loans were classified on demand. 

In 2016 the Group also had breached certain covenants  
of its long-term and short-term loan arrangements with 
its banks with carrying amount of EUR 110,193k. There-
fore, at 31 December 2016 the Group didn’t have an 
unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least 
twelve months after the reporting date and non-current 
loans in a sum of EUR 91,364k were presented under 
current loans and borrowings. In 2017 the Group has 
obtained the waivers from its banks stating that they 
won’t demand payments as a consequence of the breach. 
The sum of such loans as per 31 December 2016 was 
EUR 20,751k. For other loans with a sum of EUR 86,055k 
the Group has an additional agreements signed in 2017 
with an adjustment of the covenants for the consolidated 
financial statements for 2016. And for the rest EUR 3,387k 
the Group hasn’t received a waiver from the bank before 
the release of this report. 

In 2017, the Group received EUR 131,160k of the lower 
than market contract interest rate short-term and long-

term bank loans subsidized by the government (see also 
Note 12) relating to financing of construction of livestock 
facilities, acquisition of heifers, feedstuff, veterinary drugs 
and working capital. The related loan contract interest 
rates were between 2.5% to 4.3%. The Group recognized 
these loans at fair value with the difference between the 
payment amount of the loan and the fair value reco-
gnized in government grants of EUR 39,471k (Note 25). 
Under the loan agreements the banks have the right to 
increase the interest rates to the rates of 12.0% - 13.05%, 
if the Group will breach the loan covenants. Additionally, 
the banks have the right to increase the contract interest 
rates by the key rate of the Central Bank of Russia, if the 
Russian government will stop paying subsidies to the 
banks. The Group expects that the Russian government 
will continue supporting milk production over the next 
15 years that will allow the Group to continue benefiting 
from the interest rate subsidies.

Open, unused credit lines in the amount of EUR 135,231k 
(prior year: EUR 9,418k) existed as of 31 December 2017, 
including EUR 132,889k relating exclusively to construc-
tion of specific property, plant and equipment in livestock 
farming and EUR 2,342k relating to working capital. 

As of 31 December 2017 the Group pledged 100% of  
its shares in EkoNivaAgro, Zaschitnoe, Kaluzhskaya Niva,  
Sibirskaya Niva, Mezhdurechje, EkoNiva-APK Holding, 
NivaStroy, Savinskaya Niva, Severnaya Niva, EkoNiva- 
Semena, EkoNiva-Farm (2016: EkoNivaAgro, Zaschitnoe, 
Kaluzhskaya Niva, Sibirskaya Niva, Mezhdurechje,  
EkoNiva-APK Holding, NivaStroy, Savinskaya Niva,  
Severnaya Niva, EkoNiva-Semena, EkoNiva-Farm and  
EkoLand). Shares of new subsidiaries OOO OkaAgro  
and OOO Oka Moloko were pledged to prior owner of 
these companies until the purchase price has been  
paid in full.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016 the Group’s loans were 
secured with its property, plant and equipment (Note 15), 
biological assets (Note 19) and finished goods (Note 20).

Finally, at 31 December 2017 and 2016 the Group’s  
loans were secured with financial guarantees of its certain  
related parties provided to the banks (Note 32). 
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Corporate bonds
In fiscal year 2012, the Parent Company of the Group  
issued two corporate bonds on the Stuttgart Stock  
Exchange. 

Bond I has a volume of EUR 50m, a term of five years and 
originally reached maturity at 23 March 2017 – except in 
the case of premature redemption through use of a call 
option. The Bond will be redeemed in full on maturity. 
The interest rate for the entire term of the Bond has been 
set at 8.75% per annum. Interest is paid annually on an 
ex-post basis. Bondholder’s meeting in March 2016 voted 
for prolongation of the Bond I by four years. That leads  
to new maturity date of 23 March 2021. The main con-
ditions remained unchanged. The interest liabilities from 
Bond I in addition to the nominal value are EUR 3,395k  
as of 31 December 2017.  

Bond II originally amounted to EUR 60m. It had a term 
of six years and reached maturity at the end of 6 Decem-
ber 2018 – except in the case of premature redemption 
through use of a call option. The Bond will be redeemed 
in full on maturity. The interest rate for the entire term  
of the Bond has been set at 8.5% per annum. Interest is  
paid annually on an ex-post basis. On 5 November 2013,  
Bond II was increased by EUR 18m to EUR 78m. All con-
ditions are the same as for the first part of Bond II issued 
in 2012. Bondholder’s meeting in March 2016 voted  
for prolongation of the Bond II by four years. That leads  
to new maturity date of 7 December 2022. The main  
conditions remained unchanged. The interest liabilities 
from Bond II in addition to the nominal value are EUR 
477k as of 31 December 2017.

The original transaction costs incurred of EUR 3,926k 
were deducted from the nominal amounts. The costs for 
prolongation of the Bonds incurred of EUR 1,237k were 
deducted from the nominal amounts as well. The una-
mortized amount of the transaction costs was EUR 3,211k 
as of 31 December 2017 (prior year: EUR 3,785k). 

Due to the listing of the two corporate bonds, the Parent 
Company is obliged to publish annual and semi-annual 
consolidated financial statements for the Group. It is also 
obliged to obtain an annual update of its rating from an 

external rating agency. The shareholders waived the right 
for distribution of dividends as long as the bonds are 
outstanding. In the event of a change of control by which 
a person or group of persons who have joined forces has 
become the legal or beneficial owner of more than 50% 
of the issuer's voting rights, bondholders are entitled to 
demand early redemption of the bonds.

The company announced the termination of the listing of 
the bonds in the Bondm segment which means that they 
will be listed in the general open market from 28 June 
2018 onwards. The company will nevertheless voluntarily 
fulfill the above mentioned obligations with the exemption
of the annual rating update.

25.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The Group receives grants from the government of the 
Russian Federation. If these are related to investments in 
fixed assets valued at their historical cost (minus depre-
ciation where applicable), they are considered as defer-
red income and the grants received are spread over the 
useful life of the respective asset.

This deferred income from government grants is classified 
as current or non-current and developed as shown below 
during the reporting period and the previous period: 
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Long-term
EUR'000

Short-term
EUR'000

Balance on 1 January 2017 6,199 986

Direct cash grants relating to 
acquisition of property, plant 
and equipment 31,952 -

Grants relating to lower than 
market interest rate loans 34,966 4,505

Reclassified to short term (2,281) 2,281

Released to the income  
statement - (1,500)

Currency translation differences (1,732) (106)

Balance on 31 December 2017 69,104 6,166

Balance on 1 January 2016 5,759 985

Direct cash grants relating  
to acquisition of property,  
plant and equipment 86 -

Reclassified to short term (941) 947

Released to the income  
statement - (1,157)

Currency translation differences 1,295 211

Balance on 31 December 2016 6,199 986

Besides direct cash government grants related to acqui-
sition of property, plant and equipment and presented 
in this table there are government grants received for 
purchasing of breeding animals and as ongoing produc-
tion support. These grants are presented in other opera-
ting income (Note 8). Additionally, cash interest subsidies 
for the loans received before 1 January 2017 are offset 
with corresponding interest expenses (Note 12).  

26.  REMUNERATION FOR THE MANAGING  
       DIRECTORS

The managing director is:

Stefan Duerr, graduate geo-ecologist

The total remuneration for the managing director of the 
Parent Company in the year ended 31 December 2017 
was EUR 1,018k (the year ended 31 December 2016: EUR 
642k). EUR 217k (the year ended 31 December 2016: EUR 
306k) relates to fixed remuneration components, while 

EUR 801k (the year ended 31 December 2016: EUR 336k) 
relates to variable remuneration components.

27.  OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other current financial liabilities comprise the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Employees  2,117    1,774   

Payments due for acquisition  
of subsidiaries  30,888    -     

Other  3,089    812   

 36,094    2,586   

Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries represent the 
Group’s liability for acquisition of OOO OkaAgro and  
OOO Oka Moloko made at the end of December 2017 
(Note 3), which were settled in cash in January-April 
2018, up to the date of release of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

The liabilities pertaining to staff concern ongoing wage 
and salary payments. 

Other current non-financial liabilities comprise the  
following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Non-income taxes  19,575    6,856   

Other accruals to employees  2,542    1,767   

Social insurance  1,694    1,771   

Other  1,794    1,114   

 25,605    11,508   

Non-income taxes include mainly VAT payables. Other 
accruals to employees concern bonuses to staff, unused 
leave and social insurance relating to such payments.
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28.  SEGMENT REPORT

The Group has seven reportable segments, as described 
below, which are the Group’s strategic business units.  
The strategic business units engage in sales and other  
activities in different regions of the Russian Federation, 
and are managed separately because they require diffe-
rent business strategies. 

The following summary describes the operations in each 
of the Group’s reportable segments: 

•  The Voronezh segment includes activities of subsi-
diaries in Voronezh region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Novosibirsk segment includes activities of subsi-
diaries in Siberian region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Kaluga segment includes activities of subsidiaries 
in Kaluga region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Kursk segment includes activities of subsidiaries
 in Kursk region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Orenburg segment includes activities of subsi-
diaries in Orenburg region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Tyumen segment includes activities of subsi-
diaries in Tyumen region of the Russian Federation.

•  The Ryazan segment includes activities of new subsi-
diaries in Ryazan region of the Russian Federation. 
These new subsidiaries are OOO OkaAgro and OOO Oka 
Moloko. As acquisition of these subsidiaries took place 
at the end of December 2017 none of the results are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income. 
Results for this segment will be disclosed from the 
statement for 2018 onwards. 

The Group aggregated certain operating segments  
with similar characteristics in order to form the above  
reportable segments.

Management reviews the operating results of the  
business units separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance 
assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated based on 
profit or loss before income tax (EBIT) and is measured 
consistently with profit or loss before income tax in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Transfers between operating segments primarily relate to 
selling of seeds and rendering of services. Transfer prices 
between operating segments are based on costs of sales 
increased by the minimal margin which is dependent on 
different factors such as seasonality, terms of delivery and 
storage, terms and forms of financing, etc.

Information regarding the reportable segments is  
included in the tables below together with a reconciliation
to figures included in the IFRS consolidated financial 
statements.  



Year ended  
31 December 2017

Voronezh

EUR‘000

Novosibirsk

EUR‘000

Kaluga

EUR‘000

Kursk

EUR‘000

Tyumen

EUR‘000

Orenburg

EUR‘000

Other  
companies

EUR‘000

Total  
segments

EUR‘000

Adjustments 
and elimina-

tions

EUR‘000

Consolidated

EUR‘000

Revenue (third parties) 99,956 22,022 28,837 6,865 5,555 952 10,370 174,557 - 174,557

Revenue (companies of the Group) 11,498 1,998 718 6,490 331 - 13,735 34,770 (34,770) -
Government grants 3,846 1,863 974 123 1,181 12 - 7,999 - 7,999

Other income (third parties) 1,426 901 338 153 26 41 1,832 4,717 - 4,717
Other income  
(companies of the Group) 3,221 1,519 361 368 84 16 146,018 151,587 (151,587) -

Other income (bargain gain) - - - - - - - - 29,263 29,263
Changes in balances of ploughed land  
as well as of agricultural produce and  
biological assets 3,385 12,592 10,249 2,311 1,672 (29) (662) 29,518 - 29,518
Costs of materials (third parties) (46,817) (10,497) (12,970) (4,100) (2,653) (496) (614) (78,147) - (78,147)
Costs of materials  
(companies of the Group) (7,619) (2,041) (4,749) (296) (931) (312) (20,083) (36,031) 36,031 -
Personnel expenses (19,579) (4,471) (5,356) (2,204) (1,497) (339) (7,358) (40,804) - (40,804)
Depreciation, amortization and  
impairment losses (14,052) (3,206) (4,421) (1,812) (762) (333) (449) (25,035) 35 (25,000)
Other operating expenses  
(third parties) (11,428) (1,943) (5,735) (1,589) (495) (313) (6,797) (28,300) - (28,300)
Other operating expenses  
(companies of the Group) (11,619) (15,303) (6,170) (1,449) (1,135) (166) (108,895) (144,737) 144,737 -
Segment operating result 12,218 3,434 2,076 4,860 1,376 (967) 27,097 50,094 23,709 73,803

Reconciliation to net profit

Financial income 4,876
Financial expenses (37,632)
Income tax expenses (4,243)
Net profit for the period 36,804
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Year ended  
31 December 2016

Voronezh

EUR‘000

Novosibirsk

EUR‘000

Kaluga

EUR‘000

Kursk

EUR‘000

Tyumen

EUR‘000

Orenburg

EUR‘000

Other  
companies

EUR‘000

Total  
segments

EUR‘000

Adjustments 
and elimina-

tions

EUR‘000

Consolidated

EUR‘000

Revenue (third parties) 77,403 15,937 8,806 7,180 2,725 767 5,872 118,690 - 118,690

Revenue (companies of the Group) 12,306 3,672 144 2,948 192 - 14,336 33,598 (33,598) -
Government grants 5,638 1,037 641 293 259 35 - 7,903 - 7,903

Other income (third parties) 1,081 386 132 204 116 133 3,560 5,612 290 5,902
Other income  
(companies of the Group) 1,708 740 190 418 112 7 71,359 74,534 (74,534) -

Other income (bargain gain) - - - - - - - - - -
Changes in balances of ploughed land 
as well as of agricultural produce and 
biological assets 1,106 2,670 8,675 2,906 421 507 410 16,695 - 16,695
Costs of materials (third parties) (34,138) (8,184) (4,743) (4,204) (1,465) (572) (385) (53,691) - (53,691)
Costs of materials  
(companies of the Group) (13,492) (1,320) (362) (640) (100) (288) (18,940) (35,142) 35,142 -
Personnel expenses (13,882) (3,376) (2,697) (1,836) (1,013) (250) (5,632) (28,686) - (28,686)
Depreciation, amortization and  
impairment losses (10,642) (2,769) (2,219) (1,347) (571) (328) (252) (18,128) 51 (18,077)
Other operating expenses  
(third parties) (7,236) (1,344) (1,258) (1,737) (310) (151) (4,796) (16,832) - (16,832)
Other operating expenses  
(companies of the Group) (5,943) (1,254) (3,963) (1,130) 46 (137) (55,231) (67,612) 67,612 -
Segment operating result 13,909 6,195 3,346 3,055 412 (277) 10,301 36,941 (5,037) 31,904

Reconciliation to net profit

Financial income 4,563
Financial expenses (32,039)
Income tax expenses (466)
Net profit for the period 3,962
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29.  OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES

29.1. Lease agreements
Finance lease agreements exist primarily for the Group’s 
vehicles, generally passenger cars, and agricultural 
machinery. The liabilities from finance lease agreements 
are secured routinely with title retention clauses for the 
lessor covering the leased items.

The assets recorded as a finance lease are depreciated 
over their useful life instead over the shorter lease term, 
as 

•  the ownership is automatically transferred at the end 
of the lease term or 

•  the included purchase option at the end of the lease 
term is considered to be a bargain purchase option.

The carrying amount of all means of transportation 
(agricultural machines, transport and other machines) 
amounts to EUR 78,789k (prior year: 39,001k), of which 
EUR 22,937k (prior year: EUR 19,096k) is for leased 
assets. Of this, EUR 5,552k (prior year: EUR 2,686k) is for 
transportation, EUR 10,437k (prior year: EUR 9,867k) for 
agricultural equipment and EUR 6,948k (prior reporting 
date: EUR 6,543k) for other machinery. Grain storage fair 
value of EUR 3,188k is also under lease agreement as of 
31 December 2017. 

29.2. Obligations under financial leases

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Carrying 
amount 

 
EUR '000

Minimum 
payments  

EUR '000

Carrying 
amount  

EUR '000

Minimum 
payments  

EUR '000

Within one year  8,494    8,494    6,445    6,445   

Between one and 5 years  15,743    20,596    10,476    12,646   

More than 5 years  505    505    123    123   

 24,742    29,595    17,044    19,214   

Less interest component  4,853    2,170   

Present value of minimum lease payments  24,742    17,044   
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30.  FUTURE OPERATING LEASE PAYMENTS

As of the reporting date, the Company has agreed  
operating lease contracts which oblige it to pay leasing  
installments. These pertain almost exclusively to long-
term contracts for arable land. The liabilities comprise  
the following:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Due within one year  223    217   

Due in one to five years  791    797   

Due in more than five years  2,662    2,476   

 3,676    3,490   

31.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31.1. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans 
and borrowings, trade and other payables.  The Group 
has loan and other receivables, trade and other recei-
vables, and cash that arise directly from its operations. 

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and  
liquidity risk. The Group’s management oversees the 
management of these risks. 

A department within OOO EkoNiva-APK Holding handles 
all financial risk management for the Group centrally. 
This principally includes liquidity management alongside 
the management of exchange rate risk, interest rate risk 
and credit risk. In order to manage these risks, the Group 
currently employs no derivative instruments. 

There are no financial risk management strategies  
specifically relating to agricultural activities. In particu-
lar, forward contracting is not practiced with products, 
and – correspondingly – no production materials or fuels 
are purchased this way. Binding supply quantities are not 
stipulated in supply contracts. For further information 
please refer to the management report. 

31.2. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that fair value of future cash flows 
from financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises various 
types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other 
price risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk 
include loans and borrowings. 

The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to 
the position as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

31.3. Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group does not 
have any financial assets and liabilities with variable 
interest rates. Based on this, the Group assumes that 
there are no reasonably possible changes that might have 
impact on the statement of comprehensive income. 

31.4. Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or  
future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctu-
ate because of changes in currency rates. The Group’s 
exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates 
relates to loans and borrowing obtained in a foreign 
currency, recognized assets and liabilities in foreign  
operations. 

The Group is mainly exposed to significant risk regarding 
changes in the exchange rate between the Russian ruble 
(RUB) and the euro (EUR). 

The tables below summarize the Group’s exposure  
to foreign currency risk. Included in the tables are 
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying 
amounts, categorized by currency. 
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31 December 2016

EUR'000 RUB USD EUR Total

Cash and cash equivalents 1,793 3 411 2,207

Non-current financial assets 3,411 - 51,487 54,898

Other current financial assets 1,397 - 6,270 7,667

Trade receivables 11,230 2 1 11,233
Other receivables 8,286 - 2,344 10,630
Total monetary financial assets 26,117 5 60,513 86,635

Current loans and borrowings 117,177 - 4,822 121,999
Long-term loans considered to be current 91,364 - - 91,364
Non-current loans and borrowings 53,170 - 132,780 185,950
Current trade and other accounts payable 32,619 421 10,130 43,170
Non-current financial liabilities 9,889 - 710 10,599
Current financial liabilities 5,840 - 605 6,445
Other current financial liabilities 2,586 - - 2,586
Other current liabilities 11,132 - 376 11,508
Total monetary financial liabilities 323,777 421 149,423 473,621
Net balance sheet position (297,660) (416) (88,910) (386,986)

EUR'000 RUB USD EUR Total

Cash and cash equivalents 7,859 1 6,391 14,251

Non-current financial assets 1,774 - 24,045 25,819

Other current financial assets 640 - 39,563 40,203

Trade receivables 13,062 2 1,421 14,485
Other receivables 10,127 15 108 10,250
Total monetary financial assets 33,462 18 71,528 105,008

Current loans and borrowings 134,982 - 4,674 139,656
Long-term loans considered to be current 22,974 - - 22,974
Non-current loans and borrowings 259,450 - 132,170 391,620
Current trade and other accounts payable 32,712 419 8,242 41,373
Non-current financial liabilities 16,007 - 241 16,248
Current financial liabilities 8,260 - 234 8,494
Other current financial liabilities 36,094 - - 36,904
Other current liabilities 24,937 - 668 25,605
Total monetary financial liabilities 534,416 419 146,229 682,064
Net balance sheet position (501,954) (401) (74,701) (577,056)

31 December 2017
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If the RUB had changed against EUR, with all other  
variables held constant profit or loss and equity would 
have been influenced as follows:

EUR/RUB

Possible 
changes,  

%

Profit  
or loss

Other  
compre-
hensive 
income

12/31/2017 +12.5 % 9,388 (25,299)

-12.5 % (9,388) 16,107

12/31/2016 +20 % (57,490) (30,213)

-20 % 57,490 15,787

The effect shown may occur in both a positive and  
negative direction. 

31.5. Price risk
The Group's exposure to price risk is caused by the  
volatility of prices for milk and crops, primarily corn, 
wheat, sunflower, sugar beet. Prices for milk and crops 
are subject to volatility caused by changes in global and 
domestic supply and demand, weather conditions, milk 
and crop yields in Russia and other countries, govern-
ment regulation and other factors. The Group does not  
hedge its price risk exposure in connection with milk and  
crops’ prices. However, the Group is engaged in dairy  
and different crop production in several regions, which  
allows mitigating certain price risk. 

31.6. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its 
obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed 
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its financing activities, foreign ex-
change transactions and other financial instruments. 

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit 
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and 
control relating to customer credit risk management. Out-
standing customer receivables are regularly monitored. 

31.7. Liquidity risk 
The capital-intense structure of the Group’s field of busi-
ness renders liquidity management extremely important. 
This function is performed centrally by a department 
in EkoNiva-APK Holding in Russia. There, all financing 
agreements and payment obligations converge and liquid 
resources are allocated accordingly. The Group’s manage-
ment is regularly informed of the situation regarding fi-
nancing and payment obligations and makes key decisions 
outside of the daily business activities.

The tables below show the Group’s financial liabilities 
into relative maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at the end of the reporting period to the contrac-
tual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the tables 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows including 
interest payments. Balances due within 12 months equal 
their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is  
not significant. 
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In March 2016 the bondholders decided to defer  
the bonds by four years each. Those adjustments  
to the terms and conditions of the bonds have been  
registered in April 2016. The new due dates are  
March 2021 (bond no. 1 EUR 50 m) and December  
2022 (bond no 2 EUR 78 m), respectively.

31.8. Fair values
The following methods and assumptions were used  
to estimate the fair values:

31 December 2017

Carrying 
amount

EUR '000

Contractual 
cash flows

EUR '000

To be 
paid on 

demand

EUR '000

Less than  
1 year

EUR '000

Between 
1 and 2 

years

EUR '000

Between  
2 and 3 

years

EUR '000

Over  
3 years

EUR '000

Loans and borrowings (554,250) (779,500) (22,974) (186,772) (83,205) (144,207) (342,342)

Current trade and  
other payables (41,373) (41,373) - (41,373) - - -
Non-current  
financial lease liabilities (16,248) (16,248) - - (8,404) (6,160) (1,684)
Current financial  
lease liabilities (8,494) (8,494) - (8,494) - - -

Other financial liabilities (36,094) (36,094) - (36,094) - - -

(656,459) (881,709) (22,974) (272,733) (91,609) (150,367) (344,026)

31 December 2016

Carrying 
amount

EUR '000

Contractual 
cash flows

EUR '000

To be 
paid on 

demand

EUR '000

Less than  
1 year

EUR '000

Between 
1 and 2 

years

EUR '000

Between  
2 and 3 

years

EUR '000

Over  
3 years

EUR '000

Loans and borrowings (307,949) (409,601) (110,193) (47,464) (49,314) (17,556) (185,074)

Current trade and  
other payables (43,170) (43,170) - (43,170) - - -
Non-current  
financial lease liabilities (10,599) (10,599) - - (5,667) (3,238) (1,694)
Current financial  
lease liabilities (6,445) (6,445) - (6,445) - - -
Other current  
financial liabilities (2,586) (2,586) - (2,586) - - -

(370,749) (472,401) (110,193) (99,665) (54,981) (20,794) (186,768)

•  Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
other current liabilities approximate their carrying 
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities  
of these instruments.

•  Fair value of loans and borrowings and long-term 
payables was evaluated based on discounting of  
future cash flows.

 



  103Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial instruments that  
are carried in the financial statements:

Carrying amount Fair value

Val. 
cat.

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Assets

Non-current financial assets LaR 25,819 54,898 25,819 54,898

Other non-current assets LaR 10,780 6,630 10,780 6,630

Trade receivables LaR 14,485 11,233 14,485 11,233

Current financial assets LaR 40,203 7,667 40,203 7,667

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 14,251 2,207 14,251 2,207

Loans and receivables 105,538 82,635 105,538 82,635

Liabilities

Loans and borrowings FLAC 554,250 399,313 522,538 335,035

Obligations under finanacial leases FLAC 24,742 17,044 18,269 12,950

Current trade and other accounts payable FLAC 41,373 43,170 41,373 43,170

Other current financial liabilities FLAC 36,094 2,586 36,094 2,586

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 656,459 462,113 618,274 393,741

Val. cat.:     Valuation category according to IAS 39
LaR:  Loans and receivables
FLAC:  Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities is disclosed in Note 15. 
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31.9. Reconciliation of financial liabilities

The following table shows the reconciliation of non-current and current financial liabilities: 

EUR '000

Non-current 
loans and  

borrowings

Current  
loans and  

borrowings

Obilagtions 
under  

financial leases 
(current)

Obligations 
under financial 

leases  
(non-current)

Total  
financial  
liabilities

Balance value at  
31 December 2016

Cash flows 185,950 213,363 6,445 10,599 416,357

Repayment (62,390) (158,254) (6,240) (6,029) (232,913)

Proceeds 257,535 158,585 - - 416,120

Interest payments - (48,870) - - (48,870)

Total cash flows 195,145 (48,539) (6,240) (6,029) 134,337

Other changes

Proceeds due to the new 
contracts - - - 20,422 20,422

Proceeds due to  
acquisition of business 7,438 15,354 - - 22,792

Interests accrued - 47,825 2,289 - 50,114

Exchange differences (6,382) (17,079) (205) (2,539) (26,205)

Reclassification 48,190 (48,190) 6,205 (6,205) -

Grants relating to lower than 
market interest rate loans (39,179) (291) - - (39,470)

Other changes 458 187 - - 645

Total non-cash flow 10,525 (2,194) 8,289 11,678 28,298

Balance value at  
31 December 2017 391,620 162,630 8,494 16,248 578,992
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31.10. Management of capital
The Group manages its capital so as to ensure that all of 
the Group’s companies are able to operate on a going 
concern basis and at the same time can service all liabi-
lities in due time. The Group’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged compared to the prior year.

The Group’s capital structure comprises net debt (i.e. the 
borrowed capital given in Notes 24, 27 and 29, minus 
cash and cash equivalents) as well as the Group’s equity 
(comprising paid nominal capital, capital reserves, other 
reserves, retained earnings and consolidated net profit or 
loss figures as well as the capital share of non-controlling 
shareholders as given in Note 23). The Group is not sub-
ject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Net debt-to-equity ratio

12/31/2017
EUR '000

12/31/2016
EUR '000

Non-current loans and  
borrowings 391,620 185,950

Obligations under  
financial leases 24,742 17,044

Current loans and borrowings 162,630 213,363

Cash and cash equivalents (14,251) (2,207)

Net debt 564,741 414,150

Equity 165,049 115,759

Net debt-to-equity ratio 342.2 % 357.8 %

(i)  Debts are defined as current and non-current financial liabilities  
      such as those given in Notes 24, 27 and 29.
(ii) Equity comprises the Group’s entire capital and reserves incl. the  
      shares owned by non-controlling shareholders.

32.  BUSINESS ACTIVITIES WITH RELATED PARTIES

For the purposes of these consolidated financial state-
ments, parties are considered to be related parties if 
one party is able to control the other; if multiple parties 
are subject to the control of another; or if one party can 
exercise significant influence on the financial and busi-
ness decisions of another. Considerations of all possible 
relationships between related companies are based on 
the actual substance of the relationship and not merely 
its legal form. 

The managing director of Ekosem-Agrar GmbH is consi-
dered management member in key position.

32.1. Trading activities
In the course of the reporting period, group companies 
conducted the following transactions with related parties 
not belonging to the Group. 

2017
EUR'000

2016
EUR'000

Sale of goods and rendering 
services

   Companies under  
   common control  917    670   

Acquisition of goods and 
services received

   Companies under  
   common control  22,426    12,416   
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The following balances remained outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

12/31/2017
EUR'000

12/31/2016
EUR'000

Receivables due from related companies under common control

   Companies under common control  133    653   

Loans granted to related companies under common control

   Companies under common control  26,400    31,346   

   Associates  168    81   

   Main shareholder and key management personnel of the Group  3,934    3,766   

Loans received from related parties

   Companies under common control  14,417    14,217   

Payables due to related parties

   Companies under common control  7,014    8,598   

   Associates  5    1   

   Main shareholder and key management personnel of the Group  381    135   

The receivables relate to administrative and  
agency services.

32.2. Loans from and to related parties
The Group received loans from the companies under 
common control totaling EUR 14,417k. These loans in a 
sum of EUR 7,612k are short-term and EUR 6,805k are 
long-term with a repayment in 2019-2020, not secured, 
with the interest rates of 8-9%. The Group issued loans 
totaling EUR 26,400k to the companies under common 
control at the reporting date. All these loans are long-
term with a repayment in 2025, secured, with the  
interest rate of 5%.   

32.3. Financial guarantees received from related parties
At 31 December 2017 and 2016 the Group’s bank loans 
were secured with financial guarantees of its ultimate 
controlling party and of the entities under common 
control amounted to EUR 413,070k and EUR 228,635k, 
respectively. At the same time these loans were secured 
with the assets pledged (Note 15). 
  

32.4. Terms and conditions of transactions with  
          related parties
There have been no guarantees provided or received for 
any related party receivables or payables. For the year 
ended 31 December 2017, the Group has no impaired 
receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties 
(2016: 0). This assessment is undertaken each fiscal year 
through examining the financial position of the related 
party and the market in which the related party operates.
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33.  ADVISORY BOARD
The Group has an advisory board with five members. 
These are:

Dr. Franz-Georg von Busse  
     - Chairman of the advisory board of  
        Ekosem-Agrar GmbH 
      - Chief Representative of Gebrüder Pöttinger GmbH

Dr. Thomas Kirchberg 
- Member of the Management Board of Südzucker AG 
  Mannheim/Ochsenfurt

Wilhelm Rupp 
- Former Member of the Management Board of
   Volksbank Kraichgau Wiesloch-Sinsheim eG. Mr. Rupp    
   is involved in a mid-sized startup incubator and is   
   involved in individual startup companies.

Claus Schnakenberg 
- Consultant at "Beratungsring Beverstedt e. V." 

Wolfgang Bläsi
- Managing Partner wb finance GmbH

Total remuneration of the members of the advisory  
board in the reporting period amounted to EUR 87.5k 
(prior year: EUR 75k).

34.  AUDITOR’S FEE

The following fee for the annual audit (complete  
remuneration plus expenses without VAT) is recorded as 
an expense in the year ended 31 December 2017:

2017
EUR '000

2016
EUR '000

Audit services 290 246

290 246

35.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE  
       REPORTING DATE

In April 2018 the Group acquired OOO Megaferma Be-
rezovka and OOO Bobrov-Niva in a linked transaction for 
the cash considerations of EUR 6,183k, as well as OOO 
Shipova Dubrava for the cash considerations of EUR 0.5k. 
The acquired entities are located in Voronezh region and 
engaged in crop production and livestock farming. The 
assets and liabilities of the acquired entities included 
property, plant and equipment, land lease rights, bio-
logical assets, inventories, trade and other receivables, 
loans and borrowings and trade and other payables. 
Preliminary value of the acquired assets as stated in their 
statutory financial statement prepared based on Russian 
accounting standards is EUR 15,207k and EUR 4,768k, 
respectively, and acquired liabilities are EUR 10,232k 
and EUR 7,082k, respectively. Based on this, preliminary 
value of the acquired net assets are EUR 4,975k and EUR 
(2,314)k, respectively. Revenue of the acquired entities 
for 2017 amounted to EUR 3,449k and EUR 1,600k, re-
spectively. Preliminary, the Group has identified acquired 
goodwill amounting of EUR 1,208k from acquisition of 
OOO Megaferma Berezovka and OOO Bobrov-Niva and 
EUR 2,314k from acquisition of OOO Shipova Dubrava. As 
the Group has acquired certain land plots and land lease 
rights, it’s expected that fair value of acquired assets will 
be different from stated in the Russian statutory financial 
statements. Thus preliminary identified goodwill might 
differ after finalization of purchasing price allocation. 
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The Group is in process of determination of final purchase 
price allocation relating to these acquisitions. This pro-
cess is expected to be finished within twelve months from 
the acquisition date. 

In second quarter of 2018, Rosselkhozbank and Sberbank 
approved the new loan limits to the Group for capital 
investment projects in Voronezh, Kaluga, Ryazan and 
Orenburg regions amounting to RUB 27 billion, including 
the loans for RUB 26 billion to be granted at the lower 
than market interest rates not exceeding 5% p.a. As of  
22 June 2018, under these loan limits, the Group conclu-
ded the loan agreements totaling to RUB 16.6 billion.
 
By 22 June 2018, the Russian banks issued the capital 
investment loans to the Group of RUB 9.2 billion and 
the loans for the financing of operating activities in the 
amount of RUB 5.9 billion. 

36.  AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The consolidated financial statements of Ekosem-Agrar 
GmbH for the year ended 31 December 2017 were appro-
ved and authorized for issue by the Management Board 
on 29 June 2018.

Walldorf, 29 June 2018

Stefan Duerr    
Managing director
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To Ekosem-Agrar GmbH

Audit opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements  
of Ekosem-Agrar GmbH, Walldorf, Germany, and its sub-
sidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as of 31 December 2017, 
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of 
changes in shareholders’ equity for the fiscal year from 
1 January to 31 December 2017 as well as the consoli-
dated notes including the presentation of the accounting 
and valuation methods. We have also audited the Group 
management report of Ekosem-Agrar GmbH for the fiscal 
year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017. 

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit,

•  the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
comply, in all material respects, with German commer-
cial law and, in accordance with German principles  
of proper accounting, give a true and fair view of the  
net assets and financial position of the company as of  
31 December 2017 as well as of its results of operations 
for the fiscal year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 
2017 and

•  the accompanying Group management report as a 
whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position. 
In all material respects, the Group management report 
is consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments, complies with legal requirements and suitably 
presents the future opportunities and risks.

Pursuant to Section 322 Para. 3 Sentence 1 of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB), we state that our audit has not 
led to any reservations with respect to the correctness 
of the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report.

Basis for the audit opinions
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report in accor-
dance with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) and in compliance with German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promul-
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of 
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Public Auditors in Germany; IDW). Our responsibility 
under those provisions and standards is further described 
in the “Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the conso-
lidated financial statements and the Group management 
report” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group companies in accordance with the requirements 
of German commercial and professional law, and we have 
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities applicable in Germany 
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on  
the consolidated financial statements and the Group  
management report. 

Material uncertainty regarding the going concern 
We refer to the information provided in paragraph 5.2 
“Risk report” in the Group management report and the 
facts presented therein with regard to the liquidity risk, 
according to which the Ekosem-Agrar Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern essentially depends on its 
ability to generate sufficient funds to settle its liabilities. 
This also includes funds for the repayment of bank loans, 
unless the latter are refinanced or prolonged. At the time 
of the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments for 2017, the executive management expects the 
Group’s short-term financial liabilities to be prolonged by 
the Russian banks as in the past, although the terms of 
certain short-term loans in Russia were not met last year. 
We thus highlight a material uncertainty that may cast  
significant doubt about the Ekosem-Agrar Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and that represents a 
going concern risk within the meaning of Section 322 
Para. 2 Sentence 3 of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB). Our audit opinion has not been modified with 
regard to this fact. 

Responsibilities of the legal representatives for the  
consolidated financial statements and the Group  
management report 
The legal representatives are responsible for preparing 
consolidated financial statements that comply, in all 
material respects, with German commercial law and for 
ensuring that the consolidated financial statements, in 
accordance with German principles of proper accounting, 
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial  
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position and results of operations of the Group. In  
addition the legal representatives are responsible for such 
internal control as they have determined necessary in 
accordance with German principles of proper accounting 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
legal representatives are responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. They 
also have the responsibility – where applicable – for  
disclosing matters related to the going concern and for 
using the going concern basis of accounting, unless this  
is made impossible by actual or legal circumstances. 

The legal representatives are also responsible for pre-
paring a Group management report which, as a whole, 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position, and is 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements in 
all material aspects, complies with German legal require-
ments and suitably presents the future opportunities  
and risks. In addition, the legal representatives are re-
sponsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) 
as they consider necessary to enable the preparation 
of a Group management report that complies with the 
requirements of German commercial law and to enable 
the provision of sufficient and appropriate evidence for 
assertions in the Group management report. 

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the Group management report
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and whether the Group management 
report as a whole provides a suitable view of the situa-
tion of the Group and is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements in all material aspects as well as 
with the findings of our audit, complies with the legal 
provisions applicable in Germany and adequately reflects 
the future opportunities and risks as well as to issue an 
auditor’s report that contains our audit opinions of the 
consolidated financial statements and the Group manage-
ment report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
and in compliance with German generally accepted stan-
dards for the audit of annual financial statements promul-
gated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will al-
ways detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in total, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

During our audit, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism. Moreover

•  we identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report, whether due to fraud or  
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit  
opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstate-
ments due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detec-
ting misstatements due to error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresen-
tations, or the override of internal controls;

•  we obtain an understanding of the internal control 
system that is relevant for the audit of the consolida-
ted financial statements and of the arrangements and 
measures that are relevant for the audit of the Group 
management report in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on 
the effectiveness of these systems;

•  we evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting 
policies used by the legal representatives and the  
reasonableness of the accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the legal representatives;

•  we conclude on the appropriateness of the legal 
representatives’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
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whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and in the Group management report or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our audit 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evi-
dence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may result in 
the Group no longer being able to continue as a going 
concern; 

•  we evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
contents of the consolidated financial statements 
and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group in accordance 
with German principles of proper accounting; 

•  we obtain sufficient and suitable audit evidence for 
the accounting information of the companies or  
business activities within the Group in order to issue 
audit opinions regarding the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report. We  
are responsible for guiding, monitoring and conducting  
the audit. We have sole responsibility for our audit 
opinions; 

•  we assess the consistency of the Group management 
report with the consolidated financial statements,  
its compliance with applicable laws and the view it 
provides of the situation of the Group; 

•  we perform audit procedures on the forward-looking 
information presented by the legal representatives in 
the Group management report. Based on sufficient  
audit evidence, we hereby review, in particular, the 
significant assumptions used by the legal representa-
tives as a basis for the forward-looking information and 
evaluate the appropriate derivation of the forward-

looking information from these assumptions. We do 
not express a separate audit opinion on the forward-
looking information and on the underlying assump-
tions. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future 
events will deviate materially from the forward-looking 
information.

We discuss with the supervisory body, among other  
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and  
significant audit findings, including any significant defi-
ciencies in the internal control system that we identify 
during our audit.

Eschborn/Frankfurt am Main, 30 June 2018

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Kausch-Blecken von Schmeling     Titov
German Public Auditor             German Public Auditor 
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